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SalES 
Summary

(Figures in USD million from consolidated Group accounts) 2012 2011 2010

ReVenUe

Operating revenue 1 952 1 902 1 617

Operating revenue outside Norway in % 80 77 75

compReHenSiVe income

Operating profit 194 171 205

Profit before tax expense 181 159 198

Net cash flow from operations 155 54 117

pRoFitaBility

Return on capital employed, in % 1) 19.5 18.3 29.2

Operating margin, in % 2) 9.9 9.0 12.7

Return on equity, in % 3) 15.8 13.1 19.9

yeaR-end Financial poSition

Total assets 1 670 1 522 1 329

Investments in intangible and fixed assets 106 144 95

Equity (including minority interests) 899 837 801

Equity / assets ratio, in % 53.8 55.0 60.3

Number of employees in Group 6 379 5 884 5 577

Number of employees in Group 
including 100 per cent in joint ventures and associated companies

8 740 8 296 7 819

deFinitionS

1) Return on capital employed % =     Operating profit - amortisation of intangible assets      
 x 100

                                                           Average total assets - non-interest-bearing liabilities

2) Operating margin % =                    Operating profit        
x 100 

   

                                                           Operating revenues     

    

3) Return on equity % =                      Total comprehensive income for the year      
x 100

 

                                                           Average equity

 

GrOup 
KEy FiGurES

32% Marine Coatings

35% Decorative Paints

23% Protective Coatings

10% Powder Coatings

BUSineSS SegmentS32+35+23+10
SalES aNd EbiTa dEvElOpmENT

SaleS
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From 2003 the sales and EBITA is according to IFRS. Before 2003 the figures are according to NGAAP.
EBITA is earning before interest, tax and amortisation.
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iNTrOduCTiON
Over the past five years, Jotun has taken decisive action 
to effectively manage its existing global network while 
also investing in people, resources, systems and products 
to promote environmentally sustainable growth in the 
future.  

a s the Jotun Group continues 
to pursue an organic growth 
strategy to expand in new 
and existing markets, the 

company is working to align its business 
with its diverse global presence. In 2012, 
the Group added personnel  worldwide, 
strengthened a number of Group Functions 
and announced a new organisational 
structure to enable regional personnel to 
respond more quickly to changes to local 
market demand.  

By the end of 2012, the Jotun Group 
was comprised of 71 companies and 36 
production facilities with representation 
(agents, branch offices, distributors) and 
sales offices in 90 countries all over the 
world. Jotun expanded capacity in existing 
markets, entered a number of new markets 
and continued to identify and evaluate 
markets that represent strong potential in 
the paints and coatings segment.   

Jotun will continue to pursue growth 
through strategic investments in parallel 
with an increased focus on health, safety 
and environment. And with a growing 
body of evidence indicating an expanded 
role for paints and coatings in saving fuel, 
reducing harmful emissions and long-
term asset protection, Jotun is in a strong 
position to generate positive results for 
years to come. 

JOTuN GrOup

• Continued growth in the Decorative, 
Protective and Powder Coatings segments

• Profits impacted by declining sales in 
Marine segment  

• Business restructured to empower 
regional businesses  

• Significant investment in production 
capacity in Norway, China, the US and 
Russia

• Company added about 700 new 
employees worldwide to support future 
growth 

dECOraTivE paiNTS 

• Achieved record growth in Middle East, 
South East Asia

• Jotun acquired land for a new factory in 
Oman and is expanding warehouse and 
logistic capacity in Saudi Arabia and 
Egypt

• Successful Scandinavian launch of 
LADY Wonderwall

• Jotun opened new production facility in 
Norway (Sandefjord)

mariNE COaTiNGS  

• Growth slowed due to declines in 
newbuilding market 

• Jotun strengthened dry-dock and 
sea-stock concepts to generate growth in 
maintenance market 

• Secured a number of contracts for Hull 
Performance Solutions (HPS) concept  

• Jotun launched an expanded range of 
premium sylil acrelate anti-foulings

prOTECTivE COaTiNGS  

• Recorded strong results in Korea, Europe, 
Singapore and the Middle East

• Jotun expanded into new market 
segments (renewables, mining) 

• Launched Barrier Plus (corrosion protec-
tion of steel substrates) and Penguard Pro 
a primer for submerged surfaces

• Jotun broke ground on a new factory in 
Russia and continues plans to build a 
factory in Brazil

pOwdEr COaTiNGS

• Opened a new state-of-the-art powder 
factory and R&D centre in China

• Secured contract for Queensland-Curtis 
LNG project in Australia using new 3 
layer FBE technology (J-Trac)

• Supply chain optimisation projects in 
progress in Europe and Asia.

• Launched ‘Reveal’ range of powder 
coatings.

HiGHliGHTS  
2012
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riyadH, Saudi arabia

Jotun Saudia celebrates another year 
of record sales, securing a number of 
high profile projects including the King 
Abdullah Financial District and the ITCC 
Complex. 

iSTaNbul, TurKEy

Jotun Boya secures Tupras Resid 
Upgrading Project, the largest refinery 
project of its kind in Turkey. 

yaNGON, myaNmar

Jotun becomes the first paints company to 
open a Multicolor Centre in Myanmar. The 
company also announced plans to build a 
paint factory, the country’s first.

riO dE JaNEirO, brazil

Jotun Brasil starts construction of a 
factory for production of coatings to 
serve the growing offshore, industrial and 
marine activities in the country.

dubai, u.a.E

Jotun opens a new 1 800 square metre 
Regional Service Centre. The facility 
includes a training centre, an application 
area for painters, an inspirational concept 
centre and a Multicolor Servicing Area. 

dHaKa, baNGladESH

Jotun opens a new sales office to focus 
on meeting rising demand for protective 
coatings and decorative paints and 
winning contracts in the Marine market. 

zHaNGJiaGaNG, CHiNa

Jotun opens a 130 000 square metre 
powder coatings factory and a new 
R&D Centre to develop products in all 
segments.

HO CHi miNH CiTy, viETNam

Jotun secures contracts for four major real 
estate development projects and launches 
Jotashield Anti-Fade exterior paint. 

SibEria, ruSSia

Jotun wins contract to supply about 
150 000 litres of protective coatings for 
a polypropylene plant owned by the 
Russian petrochemicals giant, SIBUR.

SaNdEFJOrd, NOrway

Jotun completes construction of new state-
of-the-art factory. The 13 000 square-meter 
facility includes automated in-line production 
systems that will improve efficiencies and 
create better working conditions. 

HOuSTON, TExaS

Jotun establishes a sales office in 
Houston to be closer to the Marine 
business in the Gulf of Mexico. The new 
factory at Belle Chasse, Louisiana was 
completed in 2012.

mumbai, iNdia

Jotun India secures it first contract for 
Jotashield Extreme (a heat reflective 
exterior paint) to coat the prestigious 
residential Sursha apartments, covering 
about 300 000 square meters. 

arOuNd 
THE wOrld 



Jotun paints and coatings factory in 
Yanbu, Saudi Arabia
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Odd Gleditsch d.y.
Chairman of the Board

a maTTEr OF 
priOriTiES
The Jotun Group’s strong performance over the past 
decade has helped make possible the most ambitious 
investment programme in the company’s history. 
While these investments are necessary to secure future 
growth, the Group’s success will not be determined by 
profits alone but by how the company behaves in an 
increasingly complex world. 

i n 2012, Jotun’s strong performance 
is consistent with the company’s 
remarkable growth rate over the past 
decade. The origins of this growth 

can be found in bold decisions made in the 
past, such as entering new markets in The 
Middle East and North Africa (Libya 1962, 
Dubai 1975, Saudi Arabia 1990) and in 
South East Asia (Thailand 1968, Malaysia 
1969, Singapore 1976).  While some of 
these markets took time to become profit-
able, Jotun’s patience has been rewarded. 
Today, these regions generate almost a 
third of Jotun’s total revenues.  

The success of these (and other) decisions 
taken in the past has provided Jotun with 
a strong capital base to expand further. 
Over the past three years, the Board has 
approved a number of investments to 
increase capacity in existing markets, 
such as the US, China and Scandinavia, 
build production facilities in relatively 
new markets, such as Brazil and Russia, 
and establish sales offices in new markets, 
such as Morocco and Tunisia. These and 
other investments (for example, in R&D, 
global ERP systems, and recruiting and 
competence development), have been 
conceived to secure Jotun’s growth for 
future generations. 

While Jotun will continue to evaluate new 
investment proposals going forward, The 
Board remains focused on ensuring that 
Jotun’s growth is sustainable and aligned 
with Jotun values. Today, Jotun is active 
in more that 90 countries and made up of 
a highly diverse workforce representing 

different national, ethnic and religious 
backgrounds. At the same time, rising 
concerns about the environment, and the 
introduction of strict global and regional 
regulations covering everything from 
carbon emissions to anti-corruption initia-
tives, have encouraged the company to 
renew its focus on corporate responsibility. 

Jotun has long recognised that the 
company’s activities have an impact on 
the environment and the communities 
where we are active and has acted 
accordingly. However, it should also be 
noted that behaving responsibly is critical 
to building and protecting the Jotun brand 
in all segments. Indeed, the success of 

the business relies as much on quality 
products and services as it does on how 
Jotun interacts with employees, customers, 
suppliers, regulators and society. The 
Board will continue to support organic 
growth through investments, and has also 
reaffirmed its commitment to financing a 
broad range of initiatives to improve the 
company’s performance in health, safety 
and the environment.

dirECTOrS’ 
rEpOrT

1. maiN aCTiviTiES

By the end of 2012 Jotun’s business activ-
ities included development, production, 
marketing and sales of a range of paint 
and coatings systems and products for 
surface treatment and protection. In 2012, 
the Jotun Group was organised into four 
Divisions. 

Jotun Dekorativ: Decorative paints, stains 
and varnishes for the professional and DIY 
markets in Norway, Sweden, Denmark and 
Iceland, as well as production of binding 
agents.

Jotun Paints: Decorative paints in the 
Middle East and South East Asia, including 
Marine and Protective coatings for local 
customers in the same regions.

Jotun Coatings: Marine and Protective 
coatings for shipping, industry and 
offshore in Europe, the USA, South Africa, 
Australia and North Asia, as well as 
decorative products for local customers in 
the same regions.

Jotun Powder Coatings: Architectural, 
Functional and Industrial powder coatings 
in Scandinavia, Europe, the Middle East 
and Asia.

Jotun has a worldwide network and is 
represented on every continent by subsid-
iaries and/or joint ventures. The Group, 
including joint ventures and associates, 
consists of 71 companies in 45 countries, 
including 36 production facilities. In 
addition, Jotun has agents, sales offices and 
distributors in a number of countries. The 
parent company, Jotun A/S, has its head 
office in Sandefjord, Norway.

2. rEviEw OF THE aNNual 
aCCOuNTS

In accordance with Section 4-5 of the 
Norwegian Financial Reporting Act, the 

Odd Gleditsch d.y.
Chairman of the Board

left to right: Richard Arnesen, Paul Jordahl, Einar Abrahamsen, Odd Gleditsch d.y., Ingrid Luberth, Birger Amundsen, Nicolai A. Eger, Stein Erik Hagen.
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Board of Directors finds that conditions 
are present for a going concern and the 
accounts for 2012 are rendered on this 
assumption.

profits
The Group’s total operating income was 
NOK 11,351 million in 2012 compared 
with NOK 10,659 million in 2011. The 
company’s long-term growth trend 
continued in 2012 with improved sales 
in most regions, with the exception of 
the European markets which struggled 
with slow economic growth. The gross 
margin has improved over the year, 
partly due to some ease in raw material 
prices, combined with price increases. 
Geographically Scandinavia, the Middle 
East and Asia contributed to the improved 
sales and margins.   

The Group achieved a consolidated profit 
for the year of NOK 795 million compared 
to NOK 634 million in 2011.  Group 
operating profit amounted to NOK 1,126 
million, compared with NOK 956 million 
in 2011. Net financial costs totalled NOK 
70 million, and pre-tax profit amounted 
to NOK 1,055 million. Jotun’s activities 
are subject to ordinary company tax in the 
countries in which the Group operates. 
The tax amounted to NOK 261 million for 
2012, slightly up from NOK 259 last year.

The parent company, Jotun A/S, achieved 
a total profit for the year of NOK 212 
million, compared with NOK 422 million 
in 2011. The decrease is in part attrib-
utable to a reduction in dividends from 
subsidiaries of NOK 128 million and losses 
related to foreign currency.  

Associated companies and joint ventures 
consist of Jotun’s equity interests in South 
Korea, China, the UAE, Saudi Arabia and 
Yemen. These investments are presented 
according to the equity method on the 
line for associated companies and joint 
ventures. The Group’s share of the net 
result ended at NOK 340 million compared 
with NOK 265 million in 2011. 

Financial position, capital structure 
and risk
The Group had an equity ratio of 54 per 
cent at year-end, as opposed to 55 per cent 
the previous year. The reduction in equity 
ratio can be attributed to a higher level of 
net interest bearing debt, an increase in 
dividend paid out by Jotun A/S and foreign 
currency effects on balance sheet items. 

The Group is in a sound financial position.

The net interest bearing debt for the Group 
was NOK 870 million at year end 2012 
compared to NOK 668 million as of 31 
December 2011. 

During 2012 Jotun A/S used the short 
term certificate loan market in Norway 
as its main funding source. At year end 
2012 Jotun A/S had NOK 1,200 million 
of certificate loans outstanding. External 
borrowing in the subsidiaries is primarily 
short term and through local banks.

Jotun A/S has NOK 2,000 million of long-
term credit lines. This committed funding 
serves as a back-stop for the certificate 
loans as well as a strategic reserve for 
short-term financing of the Group. At 
year-end NOK 1,900 million of these 
credit lines were unused. 

In its regular business operations Jotun is 
exposed to risks relating to credit, interest 
rates, commodity prices and currency 
exchange rates, and has established 
procedures for currency and commodity 
hedging as well as customer credit rating. 
The Group hedges net currency exposures 
of cash flows in USD, USD-related curren-
cies and EUR through forward contracts, 
options and foreign currency loans. Jotun’s 
procedures and measures in this respect 
are considered satisfactory in relation to 
the Group’s exposure to risk.   

allocation of profit for the year
The allocation of the total comprehensive 
income for 2012 is presented in the state-
ment of changes in equity. Additionally, 
the Board of Directors proposes a dividend 
of NOK 513 million for 2012. Free equity 
after the proposed dividend amounts to 
NOK 2,379 million. 

The Board of Directors proposes the 
distribution of an ordinary dividend of 
NOK 1,500 per share for the 2012 financial 
year.

3. THE marKET

Jotun dekorativ (Scandinavia) 
Jotun Dekorativ posted strong top-line 
growth in 2012. In addition to positive 
sales figures in both interior and exterior 
paints, Jotun showed improved profitability 
by achieving more effective control of 
costs, despite the construction of a new 

factory. Jotun also implemented price 
management procedures that helped offset 
high prices of raw materials.

A new, state-of-the-art factory (Vindal, 
Sandefjord) was opened to replace older 
factories in Fredrikstad, Manger and 
Gimle. The new, fully automated factory 
has been designed to improve safety, 
working conditions, production efficiency 
and environmental performance. The 
factory serves as Jotun’s primary produc-
tion facility for all of Scandinavia. 

In Norway, Jotun is the overall market 
leader in both exterior and interior paints. 
Jotun also performed well in Denmark 
and Sweden where Jotun recorded 
double-digit growth in sales and volume 
in 2012. In the interior paints market, 
Jotun experienced high demand for LADY 
products. In 2012, the company introduced 
LADY Wonderwall, an interior paint that 
complements other paint systems in the 
LADY range. Jotun’s exterior brands also 
performed well.  

Most of the sales of Jotun’s products in 
Scandinavia are sold through a network 
of dealers. To support their efforts, Jotun 
introduced a new design for in-shop 
Multicolor centres, specifically modelled 
to support sales personnel and help 
simplify the colour selection process for 
the consumer. The company also produced 
a number of print and television commer-
cials and launched an integrated web-based 
social media campaign to promote LADY.

The Scandinavian market is highly 
competitive and characterised by increas-
ingly demanding consumers. It is also a 
seasonal business and volumes can be 
impacted by prolonged periods of harsh 
or cold weather. However, with the new 
factory at Vindal and a number of exciting 
new products in the pipeline, Jotun 
Scandinavia has created a strong platform 
for continued growth.  

Jotun paints (middle east, South 
east asia) 
Jotun recorded very good results in the 
Middle East and South East Asia. In addi-
tion to record figures in both volume and 
sales in the Decorative segment, Jotun also 
improved gross margins despite the rising 
cost of raw materials. The division also 
produced strong results in the Protective 
segment and satisfactory results in the 
Marine segment.

Jotun’s growth in the Middle East was 
impacted by political unrest for a short 
period of time, but the market rebounded 
quickly, even in the countries most affected 
by the Arab Spring. To meet future growth 
expectations, Jotun has acquired land for 
a new factory in Oman and is expanding 
warehouse and logistic capacity in Saudi 
Arabia and Egypt. 

In South East Asia, Jotun has production 
units in Thailand, Malaysia, Indonesia 
and Vietnam, serves export markets in 
Cambodia and the Philippines and has 
taken steps to expand into Bangladesh and 
Myanmar. The company was successful 
in growing its dealer network throughout 
the region in 2012 and delivered good 
results in the project market, especially in 
Indonesia, Malaysia and Vietnam.

Jotun has experienced almost uninter-
rupted growth in the Middle East and 
South East Asia throughout the past 
decade. By continuing to invest in product 
innovation, production capacity and strong 
marketing concepts, the company is confi-
dent that this growth trend will continue in 
the years to come.
Jotun coatings 

The Division posted strong results for the 
year, continuing a long-term growth trend. 
However, the pace of this growth slowed 
in 2012 due to weaker market conditions 
in the Marine segment. While the growth 
in the Protective segment was slower in 
2012 than last year (due mostly to modest 
declines in volume in India and China), the 
company recorded strong results in South 
Korea, Europe and Singapore.

While Jotun expects to retain its leading 
global market share in Marine, short to 
medium-term growth expectations for the 
segment are modest. Jotun works closely 
with shipowners and shipyards to secure 
newbuilding contracts, but the company 
has renewed its focus on the dry-dock and 
maintenance markets. In addition, Jotun 
has expanded its range of premium silyl 
acrylate anti-foulings and continues to 
develop its Hull Performance Solutions 
(HPS) concept. 

The Board of Directors sees a positive 
outlook in the Protective segment. To 
support growth, Jotun is building produc-
tion capacity in regions where investments 
in construction projects are high. In 2012, 
Jotun began construction of a new factory 

in Russia (St. Petersburg) and continues 
plans to build a factory in Brazil (Rio de 
Janeiro). In addition, the company has 
upgraded its factory in the United States 
(Belle Chasse, Louisiana). Several new 
products have been launched and concept 
specific products have been developed in 
support of growth ambitions. 

By improving efficiencies, expanding 
production capacity, and introducing new 
products and systems to stimulate growth, 
Jotun is in a good position to defend and 
expand market share in the Marine and 
Protective segments. 

Jotun powder coatings
In 2012, the division performed well in the 
Industrial, Functional, and Architectural 
segments. Results were especially notable 
in the Middle East, where significant 
investment in new construction has 
generated strong demand for Architectural 
powder coatings, while pipeline projects 
supported growth in the Functional 
segment. In South East Asia, growth was 
achieved in all segments. 

Jotun’s 2012 success in the Powder 
Coatings segment has been driven by 
product innovation, improved supply chain 
management and the ability to supply large 
projects involving multinational stake-
holders. In 2012, the company strengthened 
its Key Account Management teams to 
manage specifications and build long-term 
relationships with contractors, consultants 
and owners. Jotun also implemented price 
management measures to protect margins.  

Jotun’s quality product portfolio in the 
Architectural segment has helped secure 
strong relationships with multinational 
companies, while growth in the Industrial 
segment was driven in part by increased 
sales of Guard Miles and Guard Miles+, 
a low heat and flexible curing product 
launched in 2011. In 2012, the division also 
launched the “Reveal” range of products. 
In the Functional segment, Jotun secured 
a number of high-value pipeline contracts 
in the Middle East, India, Gulf of Mexico, 
Vietnam and Australia.

Jotun Powder Coatings is in the process 
of optimising its supply chain structure in 
Asia and Europe, and in June 2012, Jotun 
opened a new powder coatings factory and 
R&D centre in Zhangjiagang, China. With 
a continued focus on product innovation, 
quality technical service and global Key 

Account Management, Jotun Powder 
Coatings is in a strong position to capture a 
larger global market share going forward. 

4. rESEarCH aNd 
dEvElOpmENT 

Jotun’s Research and Development depart-
ment is made up of 300 employees working 
in regional labs located in Europe (Norway 
and the Czech Republic), the Middle East 
(Dubai), South East Asia (Malaysia), North 
Asia (Korea and China)and the Americas. 
This de-centralised model enables the 
company to adapt more quickly to local 
market demand. The R&D Department is 
headquartered in Sandefjord.

In addition to being responsible for product 
innovation in all segments, Jotun’s R&D 
department also plays a critical role in 
supporting the company’s business and 
environmental objectives. Responsibilities 
include testing raw materials, removing 
harmful substances from existing products, 
offering Life Cycle Assessments and 
providing claims and verification services 
when required.

Over the past five years product innova-
tion has been driven by increased public 
concerns about health and environmental 
issues and increasingly strict regulations on 
the use of certain chemicals and additives. 
Jotun has structured its innovation process 
to include chemical engineers and Jotun 
personnel active in sales and marketing, 
factory operations, purchasing and supply 
chain logistics. To stay ahead of emerging 
regulations, Jotun R&D is working to 
eliminate the use of a number of hazardous 
chemicals found in Jotun paints and 
coatings, phasing out potentially dangerous 
substances such as lead oxide, carben-
dazim, aromatic amines and coal tars, 
among others.. This work will continue in 
the future.

5. COmpETENCE dEvElOpmENT

Competence development is a critical 
part of Jotun’s growth strategy, and the 
company invests a considerable amount 
each year in competence development 
initiatives. A wide range of life-long 
learning programmes are offered for 
employees, starting with on-the-job 
training and continuing through various 
training programmes organised by Jotun 
Academy. Established in 2006, the Jotun 
Academy brings together all company 
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training, including human resources, 
marketing, sales, purchasing, R&D, opera-
tions, technical sales support, logistics and 
management. In 2012 the company trained 
more than 3,000 employees undertaking 
over 200 Jotun Academy training 
programmes around the world. 

The Jotun Academy portfolio is anchored 
in Jotun’s Competence Board, respon-
sible for developing and disseminating 
new training initiatives throughout the 
company. This board has been integral 
to maintaining Jotun’s international 
expansion momentum. Over time, the 
company has established a culture whereby 
employees value long-term learning to 
encourage employees to grow and maintain 
their enthusiasm for developing Jotun and 
themselves. This is one of the key reasons 
the company has sustained a low global 
staff turnover level.

6. HEalTH, SaFETy aNd THE 
ENvirONmENT (HSE)

goals and activities
All our activities shall be carried out in 
accordance with local laws and regulations 
and Jotun HSE standards. Occupational 
diseases shall be prevented and physical 
and psychological health promoted. Life 
and property shall be safeguarded, and 
the company’s environmental footprint 
minimised.

All production companies are now 
certified according ISO 14001 and OHSAS 
18001, with the exception of the US due 
to construction of new factory in 2012. 
In addition, Jotun has an internal HSE 
standard compulsory for all sites and 
personnel.

Group HSE carried out 14 HSE audits of 
Jotun’s production facilities in 2012. The 
results from these audits indicate that most 
of the factories have a satisfactory HSE 
level. However, there is a need for improve-
ments in some units. A colour score rating 
system for the sites was introduced in 2012.

training
Developing knowledge is a key parameter 
for Jotun to achieve sustainable long-term 
growth. The Jotun Operations Academy is 
an umbrella for several training courses in 
which HSE plays a major role. In 2012, 340 
employees attended at least one of these 
training courses.

All production companies in Jotun have an 
HSE coordinator. In 2012, all coordinators 
received two days training arranged 
regionally.

All producing companies shall as a 
minimum have an “HSE Day”, with 
training in different aspects relevant to the 
company. In 2012, each Jotun employee 
received an average of 9.4 hours specific 
HSE training. 

Web-based HSE training was introduced in 
2012; seven courses were released.

working environment
A tragic accident took place at an external 
site in Belarus. A coating advisor was 
killed when scaffolding inside a storage 
tank collapsed. The safety for Jotun 
employees at external sites is a challenge, 
and the Board of Directors has expressed 
the need for increased focus in this area.

There were 64 injuries reported resulting 
in lost-time due to injury (LTI) absences 
in 2012, compared with 82 in 2011. The 
number of injuries resulting in an absence 
of one day or more per one million 
working hours (H1 value) was 4.4 (5.5 in 
2011). The H1 value for Jotun A/S was 3.5, 
compared with 4.3 in 2011.

Absence due to sickness for the Group in 
2012 was 1.6 per cent, the same as in 2011. 
Absence due to sickness in Jotun A/S was 
4.1 per cent in 2012 compared with 4.5 per 
cent in 2011.  

environment
Air emissions from the factories mainly 
consist of solvents and marginal emissions 
of dust. Some factories have abatement 
systems for wastewater, and they are all 
operating in line with local requirements.

A carbon footprint analysis based on Scope 
1 and 2 of the International Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol was carried out. The total 
emissions from our activities were 77,500 
tonnes carbon dioxide equivalents. 
Compared to the production volume this 
is an increase of one per cent compared to 
2011.

The total electrical consumption was 
116,045 MWh. When measured against 
production volume, the electricity 
consumption has risen slightly compared 
to 2011. The reason for the increase is 
firstly due to running overlapping factories 

in Norway, and secondly that production 
of powder coatings (energy demanding 
process) has increased more than wet paint. 

The Group generated 17,600 tonnes 
of waste in 2012, with 11,000 tonnes 
classified as hazardous waste. The 
corresponding figure for 2011 was 18,000 
tonnes, of which 10,900 tonnes were 
hazardous waste. The volume of waste 
generated relative to the volume produced 
was 2.3 per cent in 2012, compared to 2.4 
per cent in 2011.

There were no discharges to water or soil 
causing any significant pollution to the 
environment in 2012.

Safety
Some initial stages of fire or small fires 
were reported, though none of these were 
considered serious. The incidents did not 
result in injuries to personnel or significant 
damage to property. All incidents were 
handled by Jotuǹ s own staff.

All incidents related to fires are unaccept-
able. Special actions regarding incidents 
caused by electrical equipment and hot 
work will be carried out.

challenges ahead
Jotun takes a very serious view of all 
HSE deviations, and has a vision of zero 
tolerance in relation to serious incidents. 
Fewer injuries mean improved quality in 
all areas through a satisfactory and safe 
working environment. Jotun continues 
to communicate the importance of HSE 
throughout the organisation to ensure a 
safe and healthy working environment for 
all employees.

7. COrpOraTE rESpONSibiliTy

Jotun conducts its business operations 
with Loyalty, Care, Respect and Boldness 
in the interest of customers, suppliers, 
employees, shareholders, the environment 
and society at large. This Corporate 
Responsibility (CR) commitment is well 
anchored in the Board of Directors and 
Group Management. Jotun’s policies and 
attitudes are based on UN Human Rights, 
ILO convention and UN’s Global Compact 
principles as well as local regulations in 
the regions where Jotun operates.

For a responsible company, it is crucial 
to make the right decisions in the right 
way. Jotun’s Business Principles are 

instrumental in this respect, and in 2012 
the company continued to develop its 
corporate culture through different aware-
ness and training initiatives in different 
arenas. Jotun firmly believes that a strong 
corporate culture, acting responsibly and 
being transparent in all locations contrib-
utes significantly to the development of 
the company as well as in all the countries 
where we operate.

Jotun continued its anti-corruption 
work throughout the whole network of 
companies in 2012. Furthermore Jotun 
GreenSteps, which is Jotun’s long-term 
efforts to contribute to the environment 
in all parts of the value chain, is subject 
to continuous implementation and focus. 
High HSE focus, supplier audits and tools 
supporting the well-being of employees, 
are also important initiatives that have 
developed during the last year. 

8. divErSiTy

Jotun recognises that cultural under-
standing and diversity make the company 
stronger. Our understanding of diversity 
includes race, gender, personal differences, 
lifestyle, age, religion, sexual orientation, 
marital status and geography. Over the 
years, Jotun has had a special focus on 
bringing people of different ethnic origins, 
religions and nationalities together in our 
offices, factories and networks. 

Jotun considers discrimination to be 
unacceptable. The company operates with 
institutions that facilitate job training 
for people who, for different reasons, are 
unable to fulfil usual working commit-
ments. In addition, Jotun works to ensure 
that women are provided with equal 
opportunities as men. Transparent and 

professional recruitment policies, tools 
and practices are used to secure equal 
opportunities.

Two of the nine senior management 
positions that report to the President & 
CEO are female. Of those with personnel 
responsibility in Jotun A/S, 24.1 per cent 
are women (22.6 per cent in 2011). Women 
make up 11 per cent of skilled workers (9 
per cent in 2011), while the corresponding 
per centage for women among office staff 
is 34 per cent (33 per cent in 2011).   

9. FuTurE prOSpECTS

As a global company, Jotun’s results are 
influenced by both macro-economic events 
(e.g. debt issues in Europe, the price of raw 
materials, currency fluctuations) and local 
events (e.g. political unrest, severe weather, 
shocks to local economies). These events 
are unpredictable, but because Jotun has 
operations in about 90 different countries 
and is active in four paints and coatings 
segments, the company’s exposure to finan-
cial risk is spread and thereby limited.

Jotun also manages risk by adapting to 
specific markets, countries and regions 
that have different rules and regulations, 
climate, business culture and consumer 
buying habits. These differences impact 
how Jotun products are developed, 
produced, distributed and sold. This 
“differentiated approach” has led to a 
decentralised business model that supports 
the efforts of regional managers and local 
sales teams to grow the business in all 
segments. 

Jotun is also working to minimise business 
risk. Raw materials represent about 60 
per cent of Jotun’s total costs. While 

prices stabilised and dropped in 2012, 
the company continues to manage this 
cost by securing long-term relationships 
with suppliers and working to find safer, 
more affordable alternatives. Jotun also 
anticipates declines in Marine sales in the 
newbuilding market, and has shifted focus 
to the maintenance and dry-dock market. 

In 2012, the company announced plans to 
reorganise internally, dividing the compa-
ny’s activities into four segments and 
seven regions. The new structure creates a 
platform to better support the companies 
and encourages more efficient regional 
cooperation. 

To achieve its ambitious organic growth 
targets, Jotun remains focused on 
improving operational efficiency and 
production capacity. In 2012, Jotun’s 
major investments included new factories 
in Norway, China, the US and Russia, 
acquiring land for planned construction in 
Oman, Indonesia, Vietnam and Brazil and 
a new regional service centre in the UAE 
(Dubai). The company is also building 
the Jotun brand in new markets such as 
Bangladesh, Cambodia, the Philippines, 
Myanmar, Morocco and Tunisia and is 
evaluating a broad range of other potential 
markets in South America, Africa and East 
Europe. In 2012, Jotun added about 700 
new employees and increased spending on 
training programmes. 

Overall, the company is confident that 
demand for paints and coatings will 
continue to grow and that the company is 
in a strong position to continue its long-
term growth trend. By building capacity 
and developing personnel and systems to 
manage this growth effectively, Jotun is 
well positioned for the future. 

Sandefjord, Norway, 13 February 2013

Board of Directors

Jotun A/S

Odd Gleditsch d.y.
Chairman

Richard ArnesenBirger Amundsen Nicolai A. Eger

Ingrid LuberthPaul JordahlStein Erik Hagen

Morten Fon
President & CEO

Einar Abrahamsen
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CONSOlidaTEd STaTEmENT OF COmprEHENSivE iNCOmE

The income statement presents revenues and expenses for the companies consolidated in the Group and measures the results for the 
accounting period in accordance with current IFRS standards as adopted by the EU. All internal matters have been eliminated. The income 
statement distinguishes between what is deemed to be the Group’s operations and what is deemed to be of a more financial nature.The result 
of investments in associates is presented on a single line. The notes explain the content of the various accounting lines. The statement of other 
comprehensive income is presented as a separate table in connection with the income statement. The table shows all income and expenses 
that are not included in the “profit for the year“.

1 JanUaRy - 31 decemBeR
(NOK thousand)

Note 2012 2011

Operating revenue 11 350 602 10 658 991

Share of profit of associated companies and joint ventures 9 339 728 265 002

Cost of goods sold -6 301 822 -6 220 856

Payroll expenses 2, 3 -1 876 583 -1 674 822

Other operating expenses 4, 22 -2 138 024 -1 825 061

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 6, 7 -248 090 -247 573

operating profit 1 125 810 955 680

Finance income 4 69 323 99 455

Finance costs 4 -139 746 -162 180

profit before tax 1 055 387 892 955

Income tax expense 5 -260 582 -258 650

profit for the year 794 805 634 305

other comprehensive income

Loss on hedge of net investments in foreign operations 21 - -15 467

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans 3 -6 798 -35 550

Translation differences on net investments in foreign operations -67 371 -

Currency translation differences -188 415 77 071

other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -262 583 26 054

total comprehensive income for the year 532 222 660 359

profit for the year attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company 749 635 602 791

Non-controlling interests 8 45 170 31 514

total 794 805 634 305

total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company 494 435 625 668

Non-controlling interests 8 37 787 34 691

total 532 222 660 359

JOTuN GrOup CONSOlidaTEd STaTEmENT OF FiNaNCial pOSiTiON

The statement of financial position presents the Group’s total assets and shows how they have been financed, broken down into equity and 
liabilities. All internal matters between companies in the Group have been eliminated. According to the system of classification applied to the 
balance sheet, current assets and liabilities belong to a normal operating cycle, are cash and cash equivalents or have a useful life/repayment 
time of less than one year. Other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. IFRS are balance-sheet oriented and only items that satisfy 
the criteria for definition as assets and liabilities may be recognised in the balance sheet. Equity is a residual. The various standards determine 
how the items are to be treated. The valuation of the balance sheet items is therefore a combination of fair value (Derivative financial instru-
ments), amortised cost (trade receivables), cost (inventories), cost minus depreciation (property, plant and equipment), and recoverable amount 
(certain written down assets). The balance sheet items are explained in the notes to the financial statements.

(NOK thousand) Note  31.12.12  31.12.11

aSSetS

non-current assets   

Deferred tax assets 5 110 724 142 755

Other intangible assets 6 167 249 138 318

Property, plant and equipment 7 2 559 367 2 331 819

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 9 1 012 373 945 912

Other investments 10 8 248 8 248

Pension assets 3 - 6 214

Other interest-bearing receivables 10 264 125 168 890

total non-current assets 4 122 087 3 742 157

current assets 

Inventories 11 1 569 434 1 839 452

Trade and other receivables 10, 12 2 823 569 2 940 537

Cash and cash equivalents 10, 13 802 012 617 923

total current assets 5 195 016 5 397 912

total aSSetS 9 317 103 9 140 069

eQUity and liaBilitieS  

equity  

Share capital 14 102 600 102 600

Other equity 4 824 495 4 846 891

Non-controlling interests 8 88 641 78 411

total eQUity 5 015 736 5 027 902

non-current liabilities   

Pension liability 3 177 333 173 090

Deferred tax 5 22 826 14 106

Provisions 18, 19 41 227 155 823

Interest-bearing debt 10, 15, 21 60 424 4 067

Interest-free long term debt 21 144 28 415

total non-current liabilities 322 952 375 500

current liabilities 

Interest-bearing debt 10, 16, 21 1 875 471 1 451 219

Other current liabilities 5, 10, 17 2 102 944 2 285 448

total current liabilities 3 978 415 3 736 668

total liaBilitieS 4 301 367 4 112 167

total eQUity and liaBilitieS 9 317 103 9 140 069
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CONSOlidaTEd STaTEmENT OF CaSH FlOwS

The statement of cash flows shows how the Group’s cash flows are broken down into cash flow from operating, investing and financing 
activities, according to the indirect method. The cash flow statement explains the general changes in the Group’s liquidity since the previous 
accounting period.

(NOK thousand)
Note 2012 2011

cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax 1 055 387 892 955

Share of profit of associated companies and joint ventures 9 -339 728 -265 002

Dividend paid from associated companies and joint ventures 9 204 094 226 269

Tax payments 5 -187 432 -177 802

Gains/losses on sale of fixed assets 6, 7 -47 375 8 734

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 6, 7 248 090 247 573

Change in inventories, trade receivables and trade creditors 122 096 -582 598

Change in accruals, provisions and other -153 438 -46 793

net cash flow from operating activities 901 695 303 336

cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6, 7 47 149 7 033

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6, 7 -590 227 -867 024

Purchase of shares from non-controllling interests -5 231 -

net cash flow used in investing activities -548 310 -859 991

cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 15, 16 714 204 937 139

Repayment of borrowings 15, 16 -240 865 -167 615

Dividend paid to equity holders of the parent 14 -513 000 -256 500

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests -26 157 -41 781

net cash flow from financing activities -65 819 471 243

Net currency translation effect -103 476 -13 217

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 287 566 -85 412

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 13 617 923 716 552

cash and cash equivalents at 31 december 13 802 012 617 923

The Group had unused credit facilities of NOK 1 900 million as at 31 December 2012 (2011: NOK 1 425 million).
There are no restrictions on the use of these cash and cash equivalents.

CONSOlidaTEd STaTEmENT OF CHaNGES iN EquiTy

The statement of changes in equity from one period to the next in accordance with the Group’s profit or loss. Transactions with owners will be 
specified and applies to matters such as dividends to shareholders and share issues. Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates will affect equity in 
the form of currency differences on translation of foreign operations.

(NOK thousand)
Attributable to parent company equity holders

Note
Share 
capital

Other 
equity

Translation 
differences

Total
Non-controlling 

interests
Total equity

equity as at 1 January 2011 102 600 4 338 766 138 957 4 580 323 85 501 4 665 824

14 Dividends -256 500 -256 500 -41 781 -298 281

Profit of the period 602 791 602 791 31 514 634 305

Other comprehensive income -51 017 73 894 22 877 3 177 26 054

equity as at 31 december 2011 102 600 4 634 040 212 851 4 949 491 78 411 5 027 902

14 Dividends -513 000 -513 000 -26 157 -539 157

Profit of the period 749 635 749 635 45 170 794 805

Other comprehensive income -74 168 -181 032 -255 201 -7 383 -262 583

Acquisition of non-controlling interests -3 831 -3 831 -1 400 -5 231

equity as at 31 december 2012 102 600 4 792 677 31 819 4 927 095 88 641 5 015 736



20   21accoUnting policieS accoUnting policieS

Summary OF 
SiGNiFiCaNT 
aCCOuNTiNG 
pOliCiES
GENEral

The Jotun Group consists of Jotun A/S and its subsidiaries. The 
consolidated financial statement consists of the Group and Group’s 
net interests in associated companies and jointly controlled entities.

Jotun A/S is a limited company incorporated in Norway. The Jotun 
Group’s headquarter is in Sandefjord, Norway, and the Group 
employs around 6 400 people in 45 countries.

1. STaTEmENT OF COmpliaNCE

The Jotun Group’s consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and interpretations as adopted by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and approved by the European 
Union (EU). 

2. baSiS FOr prEparaTiON OF THE aNNual 
aCCOuNTS 

The consolidated financial statements are based on historical cost, 
with the exception of financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss and loans, receivables and other financial liabilities which are 
recognised at amortised cost.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 
accrual basis of accounting and going concern assumption.

3. baSiS FOr CONSOlidaTiON 

The Jotun Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise Jotun 
A/S and companies in which Jotun A/S has a controlling interest. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consol-
idated financial statement from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases. A change in the ownership interest 
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 
prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company. All 

intercompany balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated.   

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the 
non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

interests in joint ventures and associates 
The Group has interests in joint ventures, which are jointly controlled 
entities, whereby the ventures have contractual arrangements that 
establish joint control over the economic activities of the entities. The 
agreements require unanimous agreements for financial and oper-
ating decisions among the ventures.

The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for using 
the equity method. An associate is an entity in which the Group has 
significant influence.Under the equity method the investments in the 
joint ventures and associated companies are recognized in the state-
ment of financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in 
the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture and associate. 
Goodwill relating to the associates is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for 
impairment.The income statement reflects the Group’s share of the 
result of operation of the joint venture and associated company. This 
is the profit attributable to equity holders of the joint venture and 
associated company, after tax and non-controlling interests in the 
subsidiaries of the joint venture and associated company. 

The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are 
made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines 
whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss 
on its investment in its associate. The Group determines at each 
reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group 
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recog-
nises the amount in the ‘share of profit of an associate’ in the income 
statement.

non-controlling interests 
The non-controlling interests in the consolidated financial statements 
are the minority’s share of the carrying amount of the equity. In a 
business combination the non-controlling interests are measured at 
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquirer’s 
identifiable net assets. 

4. FOrEiGN CurrENCy

The Jotun Group’s presentation currency is Norwegian krone (NOK). 
This is also the parent company’s functional currency. Each entity in 
the Group determines its own functional currency and items included 
in the financial statement of each entity are measured using that 
functional currency.

transactions in foreign currency 
Transactions in foreign currency are initially recorded by the Group 
entities at the functional currency rates prevailing at the date of tran-
sition. Monetary items in a foreign currency are translated into func-
tional currency using the exchange rate applicable at the balance 
sheet date. Non-monetary items in foreign currency are translated 
into functional currency using the exchange rate applicable at 
transaction date. Non-monetary items measured at their fair value 
expressed in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate 
applicable at the balance sheet date. Changes to exchange rates 
are recognised in the statement of income as they occur during the 
accounting period. 

translation to nok of foreign operations
Assets and liabilities in entities with other functional currencies than 
NOK are translated into NOK using the exchange rate applicable 
at balance sheet date. Their income statements are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Exchange 
rate differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

On disposal of a foreign operation the component of other compre-
hensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognised in the income statement.

5. THE uSE OF ESTimaTES wHEN prEpariNG THE 
aNNual aCCOuNTS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end 
of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assump-
tions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected 
in future periods. The estimates and the underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on a continuous basis. Amendments to accounting esti-
mates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the amendment affects only that period, or in the period of the 
amendment and future periods if the amendment affects both 
current and future periods. See note 1 for further details regarding 
the most significant estimates, assumptions and judgements made 
when preparing the financial statement for the Group.

 

6. impairmENT OF FiNaNCial aNd NON-CurrENT 
aSSETS 

Financial assets stated at amortised cost are written down when it 
is probable, based on objective evidence, that the instrument’s cash 
flows have been negatively affected by one or more events occurring 
after the initial recognition of the instrument. The impairment loss is 
recognised in the statement of income. 

7. rEvENuE rECOGNiTiON

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of 
payment and excluding taxes or duties. 

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the 
buyer, usually on delivery of the goods. Revenues are presented net 
of value added tax and discounts.

interest income
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest-
bearing financial assets classified as available for sale, interest income 
and expense is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR), which 
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or 
a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset or liability. Interest income is included in finance 
income in the income statement.

dividend
Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment 
is established.

8. iNCOmE Tax

Income tax expense comprises both current and deferred tax, 
including effects of changes in tax rates. 

current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at 
the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and 
generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is 
recognised in equity and not in the income statement. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to inter-
pretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

deferred tax
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are calculated on all differ-
ences between the book value and tax value of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognised at their nominal 
value and classified as non-current assets (non-current liabilities) in 
the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is prob-
able that the company will have a sufficient profit for tax purposes in 
subsequent periods to utilise the tax asset. Deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets are offset as far as this is possible under taxation 
legislation and regulations.

other comprehensive income
Taxes payable and deferred taxes are recognised in other comprehen-
sive income to the extent that they relate to items in other compre-
hensive income. Items in other comprehensive income are presented 
net of tax.
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9. TaNGiblE aSSETS

Tangible assets are recognised at their cost less accumulated depreci-
ation and impairment losses. When assets are sold or disposed of, the 
carrying amount is derecognised and any gain or loss is recognised in 
the statement of income. The cost of tangible non-current assets is 
the purchase price, including all costs directly linked to preparing the 
asset for its intended use. 

Depreciation is calculated by estimating the useful life of the assets. 
The depreciation period and method are assessed each year. Residual 
value is estimated at each year end, and changes to the estimated 
residual value are recognised as a change in an estimate.

Assets under construction are classified as fixed assets and 
recognised at cost until the assets are ready for its intended use. 
Assets under construction are not depreciated until the asset is ready 
for its intended use.

Borrowing costs are capitalised to the extent that they are directly 
related to the purchase, construction or production of a non-cur-
rent asset that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for 
it’s intended use. The interest costs are accrued during the construc-
tion period until the non-current asset is capitalised. Borrowing costs 
are allocated to respective asset and depreciated over the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

10. iNTaNGiblE aSSETS

Intangible assets are measured at cost less any amortisation and 
impairment losses. 

Development expenditures attributable to an individual project are 
recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:

•	 The	technical	feasibility	of	completing	the	intangible	asset	so	that	
it will be available for use or sale

•	 Its	intention	to	complete	and	its	ability	to	use	or	sell	the	asset
•	 How	the	asset	will	generate	future	economic	benefits
•	 The	availability	of	resources	to	complete	the	asset
•	 The	ability	to	measure	reliably	the	expenditure	during	

development

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an 
asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins 
when development is complete and the asset is available for use.

The economic life of an intangible asset is either definite or indef-
inite. Intangible assets with a definite economic life are amortised 
over their economic life and tested for impairment if there are any 
indications of impairment. The amortisation method and period are 
assessed at least once a year. Changes to the amortisation method 
and/or period are accounted for as a change in estimate. Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but tested for 
impairment annually. Amortisation is calculated based on the useful 
life of the asset.

11. lEaSES
 

operating leases
Leases for which most of the risk and return associated with the 
ownership of the asset have not been transferred to the Jotun Group 
are classified as operating leases. Lease payments are classified as 
operating costs and recognised in the statement of income in a 
straight line during the contract period. 

Financial leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 
the Jotun Group. Assets held under financial leases are recognised 
as assets and depreciated over the shorter of useful life or the lease 
term.

12. buSiNESS COmbiNaTiONS aNd GOOdwill 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method and reported in the financial statements from the date the 
Group has control. Assets and liabilities, included intangible assets 
are valued at fair value at the time of acquisition. The residual value 
is classified as goodwill. 

13. GOvErNmENT GraNTS

Grants are deducted from the cost which the grant is meant to cover. 
Investment grants are recognised as a deduction from the cost of the 
related asset.

14. FiNaNCial iNSTrumENTS

i) Financial assets
initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, or as 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, 
as appropriate. 

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 
plus, in the case of assets not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and current deposits, trade 
and other receivables, loans and other receivables, quoted and 
unquoted financial instruments and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their 
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial 
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 
selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes deriv-
ative financial instruments entered into by the Group not designated 
as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are carried in 
the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognised in finance income or finance costs in the income 
statement.

loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method 
(EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included 

in finance income in the income statement. The losses arising from 
impairment are recognised in the income statement in finance costs.

derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or 
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

•	 The	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired

•	 The	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows 
in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

ii) impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets 
is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impair-
ment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that 
loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, 
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reor-
ganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measur-
able decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses 
whether objective evidence exists individually for financial assets that 
are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are 
not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, 
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, 
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet 
been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows 
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If 
a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
income statement. 

iii) Financial liabilities
initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as finan-
cial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrow-
ings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effec-
tive hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification 
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. All financial liabilities 
are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and 
borrowings, carried at amortised cost. This includes directly attribut-
able transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade 
and other payables, bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings, financial 
guarantee contracts, and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classifica-
tion as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include finan-
cial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon 
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative 
financial instruments entered into by the Group not designated as 
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the 
income statement.

loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income state-
ment when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts 
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss 
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when 
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial 
guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, 
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured 
at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount 
recognised less cumulative amortisation.

derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expired. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 
as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the income statement.

iv) offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if, and 
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

v) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets 
at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market 
prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and 
ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction 
costs. For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the 
fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such 
techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transac-
tions; reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valu-
ation models. An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and 
further details as to how they are measured are provided in note 10.
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derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

initial recognition and subsequent measurement
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward 
currency contracts and forward commodity contracts to hedge its 
foreign currency risks and commodity price risks, respectively. Such 
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value 
on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 
financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabil-
ities when the fair value is negative. The fair value of commodity 
contracts that meet the definition of a derivative as defined by IAS 
39 are recognised in the income statement in cost of sales. Any gains 
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are 
taken directly to the income statement as financial items, except for 
hedges of net investments in subsidiaries, which are recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

•	 Fair	value	hedges	when	hedging	the	exposure	to	changes	in	the	
fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm 
commitment (except for foreign currency risk)

•	 Cash	flow	hedges	when	hedging	exposure	to	variability	in	cash	
flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm 
commitment

•	 Hedges	of	a	net	investment	in	a	foreign	operation

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally desig-
nates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group 
wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objec-
tive and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation 
includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or 
transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity 
will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s 
fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s 
fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges 
are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes 
in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to 
determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout 
the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are 
accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges
The change in the fair value of an interest rate hedging derivative is 
recognised in the income statement in finance costs. The change in 
the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is 
recorded as part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is also 
recognised in the income statement in finance costs. For fair value 
hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the adjustment 
to carrying value is amortised through the income statement over 
the remaining term to maturity. Effective interest rate amortisation 
may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later 
than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its 
fair value attributable to the risk being hedged. If the hedge item is 
derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately 
in the income statement.

cash flow hedges
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is 
recognised directly as other comprehensive income in the cash flow 
hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immedi-
ately in the income statement as a finance item (unrealized) or oper-
ating income (realized). Amounts recognised as other comprehensive 
income are transferred to the income statement when the hedged 

transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged financial 
income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast sale 
occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset 
or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised as other compre-
hensive income are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the 
non-financial asset or liability.

If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected 
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity 
is transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or 
rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, any cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
remains in other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction 
or firm commitment affects profit or loss. The Group uses forward 
currency contracts as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk 
in forecasted transactions and firm commitments, as well as forward 
commodity contracts for its exposure to volatility in the commodity 
prices. Refer to note 9 and 19 for more details.

Hedges of a net investment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge 
of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net invest-
ment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains 
or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion 
of the hedge are recognised as other comprehensive income while 
any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised 
in the income statement. On disposal of the foreign operation, the 
cumulative value of any such gains or losses recorded in equity is 
transferred to the income statement. The Group uses a loan as a 
hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in 
foreign subsidiaries. Refer to notes 10 and 21 for more details.

15. iNvENTOriES
 

Inventories are recognised at the lowest of cost and net realisable 
value. 

Cost incurred in bringing each product to its present location and 
condition is accounted for as follows:

Raw materials
The cost of inventories (raw materials) is determined using the 
weighted average cost method as an overall principle within the 
Group. This involves the computation of an average unit cost by 
dividing the total cost of units by the number of units.

Finished goods
Finished goods include cost of direct materials and labour and a 
proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal operating 
capacity but excluding borrowing costs. This value is used for the cost 
of goods sold in the income statement.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the esti-
mated costs necessary to make the sale. Allowances are made for 
inventories with a net realisable value less than cost, or which are 
slow moving.

16. CaSH aNd CaSH EquivalENTS

Cash includes cash in hand and at bank. Cash equivalents are short-
term liquid investments that immediately can be converted into a 
known amount of cash and have a maximum term to maturity of 
three months. 

17. pOST EmplOyEE bENEFiTS

Post-employment benefits are recognised in accordance with IAS 19 
Employee Benefits. The Group has both defined contribution plans 
and defined benefit pension plans, primarily in Norway and the UK. 
The defined contribution plans represents the majority of the Groups 
pension plans. 

defined contribution plans
The pension cost related to a defined contribution plan is equal to the 
contributions to the employee’s pension savings in the accounting 
period. The annual contributions related to the defined contribution 
pension plan have been made for all employees and equal the agreed 
percentage of the employee’s salary (in Norway the rate is 3-5 per 
cent). The pension premiums are charged to expenses as they are 
incurred. The return on the pension funds will affect the size of the 
employees’ pension.

defined benefit plans
In the defined benefit plans the company is responsible for paying 
an agreed pension to the employee based on his or her final pay. 
Defined benefit plans are valued at the present value of accrued 
future pension obligations at the end of the reporting period. Pension 
plan assets are valued at their fair value. 

The capitalised net liability is the sum of the accrued pension liability 
minus the fair value of the associated pension fund asset. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. Introduction of new or changes to existing defined benefit 
plans that will lead to changes in pension liabilities are recognised 
in the statement of income as they occur. Gains or losses linked to 
changes or terminations of pension plans are also recognised in the 
statement of income when they arise. 

multi-employer plans 
Multi-employer plans are accounted for as defined contribution 
plans.

other severance schemes
Obligations under “other severance schemes” comprise mainly obli-
gations to employees in other countries that fall due for payment 
when employees leave a Jotun company. The size of the obliga-
tion depends on how many years the employees have worked in 
the company. Obligations related to other severance schemes are 
recognised as other non-current liabilities.

18. prOviSiONS

A provision is recognised when the Jotun group has an obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that a 
financial settlement will take place and the size of the amount can be 
measured reliably. The amount recognised is the best estimate of the 
expenditure required. If the effect is material, the future cash flows 
will be discounted using a pre-tax interest rate reflecting the risks 
specific to the obligation.

A provision for claim is recognised when it is probable that there will 
be a financial settlement that has been measured reliably. The provi-
sion is measured and based on evaluated information from customer, 
technical, legal and sales department. 

Restructuring provisions are recognised only when the recognition 
criteria for provisions are fulfilled. The Group has a constructive obli-
gation when a detailed formal plan identifies the business or part 
of the business concerned, the location and number of employees 
affected, a detailed estimate of the associated costs, and an appro-
priate timeline. Furthermore, the employees affected have been noti-
fied of the plans main features.

Environmental provisions are made when there is a present obliga-
tion, it is probable that expenditures for remediation work will be 
required, and the cost can be measured within a reasonable range 
of possible outcomes. Generally, the timing of recognition coincides 
with the commitment to a formal plan of action or, if earlier, on 
divestment or on closure of inactive sites. Expenditures that relate to 
an existing condition caused by past operations and do not contribute 
to current or future earnings are expensed. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appro-
priate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
a finance cost.

19. CONTiNGENT liabiliTiES aNd aSSETS

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the annual accounts. 
Significant contingent liabilities are disclosed, with the exception of 
contingent liabilities that are unlikely to be incurred.

Contingent assets (unless virtually certain) are not recognised in the 
annual accounts but are disclosed if the inflow of economic benefits 
is probable.

20. EvENTS aFTEr THE rEpOrTiNG pEriOd

New information on the company’s financial position on the end 
of the reporting period which becomes known after the reporting 
period is recorded in the annual accounts. Events after the reporting 
period that do not affect the company’s financial position on the end 
of the reporting period but which will affect the company’s financial 
position in the future are disclosed if significant.

21. STaNdardS iSSuEd buT NOT yET EFFECTEd

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effec-
tive, up to the date of issuance Jotun Group’s financial statements, 
are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if 
applicable, when they become effective.

iaS 1 presentation of items of other comprehensive 
income – amendments to iaS 1
The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented 
in other comprehensive income (OCI). Items that could be reclassified 
(or ‘recycled’) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, 
net gain on hedge of net investment, exchange differences on trans-
lation of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow hedges 
and net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) would be 
presented separately from items that will never be reclassified (for 
example, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans and 
revaluation of land and buildings). The amendment affects presen-
tation only and has no impact on the Group’s financial position or 
performance. The amendment becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2012, and will therefore be applied in the 
Group’s first annual report after becoming effective.

iaS 19 employee Benefits (Revised)
The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 19. These range 
from fundamental changes such as removing the corridor mecha-
nism and the concept of expected returns on plan assets to simple 
clarifications and re-wording. The Jotun Group adopted IFRS for 
the first time in 2011 and has since then recognised actuarial gains 
and losses in other comprehensive income and the removal of the 
corridor mechanism will not affect the financial statement. However, 
the amended standard will impact the net benefit expense as the 
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expected return on plan assets will be calculated using the same 
interest rate as applied for the purpose of discounting the benefit 
obligation. The amendment becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

iaS 28 investments in associates and Joint Ventures (as 
revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, and IFRS 
12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates, has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the equity method 
to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The revised 
standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013.

iaS 32 offsetting Financial assets and Financial 
liabilities — amendments to iaS 32
These amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set-off”. The amendments also clarify the appli-
cation of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such 
as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement 
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. These amendments are not 
expected to impact the Group’s financial position or performance 
and become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2014.

iFRS 7 disclosures — offsetting Financial assets and 
Financial liabilities — amendments to iFRS 7
These amendments require an entity to disclose information about 
rights to set-off and related arrangements (e.g. collateral agree-
ments). The disclosures would provide users with information that 
is useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangements on an 
entity’s financial position. The new disclosures are required for all 
recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance with 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply 
to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an enforce-
able master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective 
of whether they are set off in accordance with IAS 32. These amend-
ments will not impact the Group’s financial position or performance 
and become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013.

iFRS 9 Financial instruments: classification and 
measurement
IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the 
replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement 
of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The 
standard was initially effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013, but Amendments to IFRS 9 Mandatory Effective 
Date of IFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures, issued in December 2011, 
moved the mandatory effective date to 1 January 2015. In subse-
quent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impair-
ment of financial assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will 
have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s 
financial assets, but will not have an impact on classification and 
measurements of financial liabilities. The Group will quantify the 
effect in conjunction with the other phases, when the final standard 
including all phases is issued.

iFRS 10 consolidated Financial Statements, iaS 27 
Separate Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated 
financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in SIC-12 
Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single 
control model that applies to all entities including special purpose 
entities. The changes introduced by IFRS 10 will require management 
to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities are 
controlled and therefore are required to be consolidated by a parent, 

compared with the requirements that were in IAS 27. Based on the 
preliminary analyses performed, IFRS 10 is not expected to have any 
impact on the currently held investments of the Group. This standard 
becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013.

iFRS 11 Joint arrangements
IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-
controlled Entities — Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 
IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities 
(JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet the 
definition of a joint venture must be accounted for using the equity 
method. According to Jotun Group’s accounting policy joint ventures 
are accounted using the equity method, consequently IFRS 11 is not 
expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial statement.  

iFRS 12 disclosure of interests in other entities
IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 
27 related to consolidated financial statements, as well as all of the 
disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 and IAS 28. These 
disclosures relate to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrange-
ments, associates and structured entities. A number of new disclo-
sures are also required, but has no impact on the Group’s financial 
position or performance. This standard becomes effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

iFRS 13 Fair Value measurement
IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all 
fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change when an entity 
is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how 
to measure fair value under IFRS when fair value is required or 
permitted. Based on the preliminary analyses, no material impact is 
expected. This standard becomes effective for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2013.

annual improvements may 2012
These improvements will not have an impact on the Group, but 
include:

•	 IAS	1	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements.	This	improvement	
clarifies the difference between voluntary additional comparative 
information and the minimum required comparative information. 
Generally, the minimum required comparative information is the 
previous period.

•	 IAS	16	Property	Plant	and	Equipment.	This	improvement	clarifies	
that major spare parts and servicing equipment that meet the 
definition of property, plant and equipment are not inventory.

•	 IAS	32	Financial	Instruments,	Presentation.	This	improvement	
clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions to equity 
holders are accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 Income 
Taxes.

These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2013.

general 
In the process of applying Jotun Group’s accounting policies, manage-
ment has made the following judgements, estimates and assump-
tions which may have significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements:

environmental provisions 
Provisions for remediation cost are made based on currently available 
facts; 

•	 Laws	and	regulations	presently	or	virtually	certain	to	be	enacted

•	 Conducted	inspections,	either	been	taken	on	own	initiative	or	
implemented on the order of local authorities. Inspections and 
measurements are made by independent specialist in the field 

•	 Prior	experience	in	remediation	of	contaminated	sites

•	 Technology	expected	to	be	available	at	the	time	of	the	clean	up

The future expenditures for remediation work depends on a number 
of uncertain factors which include, but not limited to, the extent 
and type of remediation required. Environmental laws and regula-
tions may change, and such changes may require the Group to make 
investments and/or increase costs. Due to uncertainties inherent in 
the estimation process, it is possible that such estimates could be 
revised in the near term, refer to note 18.

deferred tax
Uncertainties exist with respect to determining the Group’s 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised for all unused tax losses and temporary differences 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses and temporary differences can be utilised. 
Significant management judgement is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon 
the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with 
future tax planning strategies.

Jotun Group has tax loss carry forwards amounting to NOK 402 
million (2011: NOK 330 million). These losses relate to subsidiaries 
that have a history of losses and may not be used to offset taxable 
income elsewhere in the Group. 

These subsidiaries have neither taxable temporary differences nor 
any tax planning opportunities available that could partly support 
the recognition of these losses as deferred tax assets. Jotun Group’s 
operations in the US, Spain and Brazil have substantial tax reducing 
timing differences that have not been recognised due to uncertainty 
with regard to utilisation. If the Group was able to recognise all 
unrecognised deferred tax assets, profit would increase by NOK 130 
million.

Further details on taxes are disclosed in note 5.

inventory 
Inventories are measured at the lowest of cost and net realisable 
value. Jotun Group’s products are sold in markets where there are 
limited observable market references available and this requires 
judgement in determining net realizable value. Management has 
used its best estimate in setting net realizable value for inventory. 
The carrying amount of inventory at 31 December 2012 is NOK 1 569 
million and write-down at year-end is NOK 58 million. See note 11 
for more information.

pension benefits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employ-
ment medical benefits and the present value of the pension obli-
gation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial 

valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from 
actual developments in the future. These include the determina-
tion of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and 
future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the 
underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, a defined benefit 
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All 
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. In determining the 
appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates 
of corporate bonds in the respective currency with at least AA rating, 
with extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration 
of the defined benefit obligation. The underlying bonds are further 
reviewed for quality, and those having excessive credit spreads are 
removed from the population of bonds, on the basis that they do not 
represent high quality bonds.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for 
the specific country. Future salary increases and pension increases are 
based on expected future inflation rates for the respective country. 
Further details about the assumptions used are given in note 3.

NOTE 1 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
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Payroll expenses are the total disbursements relating to remunera-
tion of personnel employed by the Group. These expenses comprise 
direct salaries and holiday pay, bonuses, pension costs and public 
taxes/charges relating to the employment of personnel. Any benefits 

in kind such as a company car, telephone or the like are reported 
for tax purposes as wages, but are presented as operating expenses 
according to the nature of expense.

Bonus systems
The Jotun Group has a system of annual bonuses that rewards 
improvement (operational excellence) under this system, an “excel-
lent performance”, which is specifically defined for the various 

elements, can result in an annual bonus of maximum 20 per cent of 
annual basic salary. This bonus system applies to approximately 100 
senior executives.

The President & CEO are part of a pension scheme that includes 
employees in the Group top management. The retirement age is 67 
years, with mutual opportunity to discontinue employment in whole 
or  in part up to five years earlier. 

Further the Group  Management is also part of a profit-dependent 
bonus system  limited upward to 50 per cent of ordinary salary. Should 
his employment discontinue, the President and CEO has a clause in his 
contract stipulating that one-year “competition quarantine” may be 
imposed with compensation.

Beyond this, the Jotun Group has no obligation to give the President 
and CEO or the Chairman of the Board special remuneration upon 
discontinuance or change of the employment office. 

The Group has given no loans or guarantees to the President and CEO 
or the Chairman of the Board. Nor has the Group given loans or guar-
antees to shareholders or members of Board and Corporate Assembly.

NOTE 2 
PAYROLL ExPENSES

wageS and otHeR Social coStS 

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Wages including bonuses 1 505 945 1 330 522

Social costs 167 094 156 446

Pension costs defined contribution plans 101 698 90 095

Pension costs defined benefit plans, ref. note 3 25 370 22 221

Other personell costs 76 476 75 538

total salaries and personnel expenses 1 876 583 1 674 822

Number of employees 6 379 5 884

RemUneRation to pReSident & ceo

(NOK thousand) Ordinary salary Bonus Benefits in kind Pension cost Total

Morten Fon  3 778  354  196  772  5 100 

RemUneRation to tHe BoaRd oF diRectoRS

(NOK thousand)

Board of Directors 2 370

Corporate Assembly 181

total 2 551

Shares owned by Board of Directors and Group Management are specified in note 14.

exteRnal aUditoR RemUneRation

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Statutory audit 7 733  6 792 

Other attestation services 141  108 

Tax services 3 358  2 316 

Other services 969  980 

total  12 201  10 195 

NOTE 3
PENSIONS AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group has both defined contribution and defined benefit pension 
plans. In the defined contribution plans, the cost is equal to the 
contributions to the employees’ pension savings in the accounting 
period. The future pension will be determined by the amount of the 
contributions and the return on the pension savings. In the defined 
benefit plan, the company is responsible for paying a pension to the 
employee based on pensionable salary. The cost for the accounting 
periods shows the employees’ pension entitlement of the agreed 
future pensions in the accounting year. The majority of the Jotun 
Group’s pension plans are defined contribution plans.  
      
defined contribution plans    
Defined contribution plans comprise arrangements whereby the 
company makes annual contributions to the employees’ pension 
plans, and where the future pension is determined by the accounts 
of the contributions and the return on the pension plan assets. 
Employees in the Jotun Group are mainly covered by pension plans 
that are classified as contribution plans. Costs associated with 
defined contribution plans are specified in note 2 Payroll expenses. 
       
defined benefit plans     
The Jotun Group has pension plans that are classified as funded 
benefit plans and unfunded benefit plans, recognised in the Group’s 
balance sheet. A large part of the Group’s benefit plans are in 
Norway and the UK, about 80 per cent of the total net obligation as 
at 31 December 2012.

norway     
The schemes define a pension benefit of up to 60 per cent of final 
salary at retirement, limited up to twelve times the social security 
basic amount (G). As of 31 December the basis amount (1G) is NOK 
82 122. The pension liability of the company is linked to changes in 
Norwegian social security benefits. Other schemes with net pension 
obilagtion include the contractual-pension scheme (AFP) and end 
financing of old AFP scheme (early retirement). In addition comes 
unfunded pension obligations related to social security benefits. 
  
Other schemes with net pension obligations include the related to 
old-age pensions, early retirement for Jotun Group’s senior exec-
utives and book liabilities related to contribution-based plans for 
employees who earn more than twelve times the social security basic 
amount (G).     
      
Settlement of defined benefit plan in norway
During 2012 the Jotun Group has changed the pension policy related 
to the defined benefit plans for Norwegian employees and pensioners. 
All categories of pensioners were transferred to individual insurance 
policies per 1 June 2012. All active employees having reached the age 
of 67 after 1 June 2012 have also been transferred to individual insur-
ance policies. The transaction eliminates all future legal or constructive 
obligations for the benefits provided under the defined benefit plan, 
and the define benefit plan is considered as settled.

The settlement had the following effect on income statement and the 
pension liabilities and assets:

United kingdom
The defined benefit schemes in the UK are closed for all members. 
The net pension obligation represent defined benefit plans related 
to employees that entered this scheme prior to close. Contribution 
schemes are established for new employees.

middle east and South east asia
In other countries like Indonesia, Thailand and Oman there are 
pension schemes, based on the final salary principle. These are 
included in net pension obligations.

other severance schemes  
Obligations indicated under “Other severance schemes” (see below) 
comprise mainly statutory obligations to employees in its companies 
elsewhere in the world. The obligations fall due for payment when 
employees leave a Jotun company. The size of the obligations depend 
on how many years the employees have worked in the company, 
among other things. Also included are Jotun’s operating pension 
schemes in the Norwegian companies regarding a pension base 
exceeding 12 times the basic amount (G).

assumptions relating to the defined benefit plans   
The discount rate is fixed at the rate on high quality corporate bonds 
with the same lifetime as the pension liabilities. For the Schemes in 
UK the ibex Sterling Corporates AA 15+ index is used as basis for 
the discount rate. The index showed an annual yield on its corpo-
rate bonds of 4.07 per cent pa at 31 December 2012. However, 
the average term of the collection of bonds within the ibex index 
is significantly shorter than the term of the liabilities of the Scheme, 
consequently the discount rate have been adjusted accordingly. 

In countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market 
yields on 10 years government bonds are used, adjusted for actual 
lifetime of the pension liabilities. The discount rate related to the 
Schemes in Norway is based on the assumption that there exists no 
deep market for high quality corporate bonds in Norway. As a rule, 
parameters such as wage growth, growth in G and inflation are set in 
accordance with recommendations in the various countries.
 
The mortality estimate is based on up-to-date mortality tables for the 
various countries (K2005 in Norway).
 
accounting of actuarial losses and gains
All actuarial losses and gains related to pensions are presented under 
other comprehensive income in the income statement.
 
pension plan assets
Pension plan assets are mainly in bonds and shares. The estimated 
return will vary depending on the composition of the various classes 
of assets.The actual return and breakdown of pension plan assets 
may be seen in the notes below. Contributions to pension plan assets 
during 2013 is expected to be approximately NOK 7 million.

Reduction of pension obligation 260 406

Reduction of plan assets 266 623

net cost recognised in income statement 6 217
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JotUn gRoUp

(NOK thousand)

2012 2011

Schemes with 
net pension 

assets

Schemes with 
net pension
obligations

Schemes with 
net pension 

assets

Schemes with 
net pension
obligations

cHangeS in penSion oBligationS inclUding Social SecURity          

Pension obligation at the beginning of the period  317 881  356 207  309 421  330 657 

Translation difference at the beginning of the period  -    -8 998  1 175  6 187 

Curtailment in future increase in wages  -    -64  -    -8 186 

Pension earning for the year  1 487  13 814  -    23 332 

Interest cost on pension obligations  1 396  13 737  11 170  16 452 

Settlement  -260 406  -    -    -   

Transfer to/from schemes with net pension liabilities  -47 081  47 081 - -

Actuarial loss/(gain)  -163  11 821  18 719  15 715 

Social security upon paying pension premiums  -1 484  -674  -959  -609 

Pension payments  -11 630  -28 743  -21 645  -27 341 

pension obligation at the end of the period  -    404 181  317 881  356 207 

cHangeS in plan aSSetS

Plan assets at the beginning of the period  324 095  202 868  330 965  191 311 

Conversion difference at the beginning of the period  -    -5 962  -    5 292 

Expected return on plan assets  804  10 239  17 429  12 479 

Settlement  -266 623  -   - -

Transfer to/from schemes with net pension liabilities  -45 676  45 676 - -

Actuarial (loss) / gain  -6 877  10 183  -7 917  -7 023 

Payments in / (out)  6 207  8 484  5 263  13 963 

Pension payments  -11 930  -15 078  -21 645  -13 154 

plan assets at the end of the period  -    256 411  324 095  202 868 

Reconciliation oF penSion liaBilitieS/aSSetS 
RecogniSed in tHe Balance SHeet

Net pension obligation - overfunded (underfunded)  -    -147 770  6 214  -153 339 

Other severance schemes  -    -29 562  -    -19 751 

total pension assets (liabilities)  -    -177 333  6 214  -173 090 

the period's pension costs including social security

Pension earnings for the year  1 487  13 814  1 175  23 332 

Interest cost for the pension obligations  1 396  13 737  11 170  16 452 

Expected return on plan assets  -804  -10 414  -17 429  -12 479 

Curtailment and settlements (AFP)  6 217  -64  -    -   

pension cost recognised in income statement  8 296  17 074  -5 084  27 305 

actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income (net of taxes)  4 834  1 964  3 576  17 644 

Breakdown of net pension liabilities as of 31 december in unfunded and 
funded schemes

Present value of funded pension obligations  -   -331 180 -317 881 -269 040

Pension plan assets  -   256 411 324 095 202 868

net funded pension assets  -   -74 769 6 214 -66 172

Present value of unfunded pension obligations  -   -102 563  -   -106 918

capitalised net pension assets (liabilities)  -   -177 333 6 214 -173 090

actUaRial aSSUmptionS
Norway  UK Indonesia

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Discount rate in % 2.2 2.6 4.3 4.7 5.7 7.0

Expected return in % 3.6 4.1 5.5 5.4 6.0 7.0

Wage adjustment in % 3.0 - 3.25 3.25-3.50 3.1 3.2 8.0 9.0

Inflation / increase in social security basic amount (G), in % 3.0 3.25 2.8 2.7 4.3 4.0

Pension adjustment in % 0.5-3.50 0.5-3.50 3.1 3.1 - -

BReakdown oF penSion plan aSSetS (FaiR ValUe) aS oF 31 decemBeR

2012 2011

Cash and cash equivalents in % 1 1

Bonds in % 46 44

Share in % 46 43

Property in % 7 12

total pension plan assets in % 100 100

Cont. NOTE 3
PENSIONS AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Cont. NOTE 3
PENSIONS AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
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NOTE 4
OTHER OPERATING ExPENSES AND FINANCE INCOME/COSTS

NOTE 5
INCOME TAx

Cont. NOTE 5
INCOME TAx

The Jotun Group presents its income statement based on nature of 
the item of income and expense. Other operating expenses comprise 
all operating expenses that are not releated to cost of goods sold, 
employee payrolls and capital cost in the form of depreciation. The 
main items of other operating expenses have been grouped in the 
table above.
 
The item “Research and development” consists of cost from proj-
ects in a research phase and development costs related to cancelled 
projects.
 
The item “Other” mainly consists of technical service costs, royalty 
and warranty costs.

Reconciliation of norwegian nominal statutory tax rate to effective tax rate  
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by Jotun A/S’ domestic tax rate for the years ended 
31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:  
  

Specification of deferred tax
Deferred tax liability consists of the Group tax liabilities that are payable in the future. The table below lists the timing differences between 
tax accounting and financial accounting.

Taxes refer to the authorities taxation of the profits of the different 
companies in the Group. Matters like value added tax, social security 
contribution etc. are note included in “taxes”.

Taxes are computed on the basis of accounting profit / loss and broken 
down into current taxes and change in deferred taxes. Deferred tax 
is the result of timing differences beween financial acconting and tax 
accounting. The major components of the income tax expense for the 
years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 are:

otHeR opeRating expenSeS

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Manufacturing costs 249 976 244 139

Warehouse costs 125 542 100 269

Transport costs 289 679 270 710

Sales costs 830 624 751 057

Research and development 108 944 67 200

General and administrative 358 924 364 491

Other 174 335 27 195

total 2 138 024 1 825 061

Finance income 

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Fair value changes financial instruments 15 853  -   

Interest income 20 297 7 920

Interest income on loan to associated 
companies

3 547 5 459

Foreign exchange gain 19 101 78 047

Other financial income 10 525 8 029

total finance income 69 323 99 455

Finance coStS

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Fair value changes financial instruments - 1 760

Interest costs 94 351 56 019

Foreign exchange loss 26 067 47 120

Other financial costs 19 328 57 281

total finance costs 139 746 162 180

income tax Related to income Statement

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

current income tax charge:

Tax payable 223 737 281 564

deferred tax:

Relating to original and reversal of temporary differences 31 637 -33 073

Translation differences 5 208 10 159

income tax expense reported in the income statement 260 582 258 650

conSolidated Statement oF otHeR compReHenSiVe income

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

deferred tax related to items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income during the year

Net gain/(loss) on hedge of net investments - -6 015

Net gain(loss) on translation difference on net investment in foreign operations -26 200 -

Net (loss)/gain om actuarial gains and losses -2 754 -13 825

income tax charged directly to other comprehensive income -28 954 -19 840

tax payaBle pReSented in tHe conSolidated Statement oF Financial poSition

(NOK thousand) 31.12.12 31.12.11

Tax payable for the year 223 737 281 564

Prepaid taxes -73 699 -69 019

Withholding taxes receivable -44 605 -38 611

Tax payable on previous years 17 289 21 121

Other tax payable -32 066 -7 623

change to total tax payable, ref. note 17 90 657 187 432

deFeRRed taxeS

(NOK thousand) 31.12.12 31.12.11

Non-current assets 149 383 142 361

Current assets -36 511 39 894

Liabilities -316 856 -560 453

Tax losses carried forward -54 219 -66 065

net temporary differences -258 203 -444 263

net deferred tax presented in the consolidated statement of financial position

Recognised deferred tax liabilities -22 826 -14 106

Recognised deferred tax asset 110 724 142 755

(NOK thousand) 2012 2012 2011

profit before tax as reported in the income statement 1 055 387 892 955

Share of profit of associated companies and joint ventures net of tax -339 728 -265 002

Expected income taxes at statutory tax rate* 28 % 200 385 175 827

Effect of credit deduction 3 % 19 780 22 798

Correction previous years -2 % -13 257 -3 729

Non deductible expenses and non taxable income 6 % 39 413 17 719

Foreign tax rate differences 2 % 14 261 46 035

total income tax expense 260 582 258 650

Effective tax rate 36 % 41 %

*) Expected income tax is calculated based on profit before tax less the net of tax amount share of profit of associated companies and joint ventures. Calculated as Norwegian nominal statutory tax 
rate of 28 per cent applied to income before tax.

SUmmaRy oF HiStoRical inFoRmation

The net pension liabilities and adjustments for the current and previous three periods are as follows:

2012 2011 2010 2009

Defined benefit obligation 434 044 674 088 661 552 740 509

Plan assets 256 711 507 212 522 276 461 722

net defined pension liabilities 177 333 166 876 139 276 278 787

Cont. NOTE 3
PENSIONS AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
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(NOK thousand) Technology Development cost Other intangibles Total

cost

Balance at 1 January 2011 98 705 29 585 95 321 223 610

Additions 11 140 36 160 24 081 71 381

Impairment  -   -463  -   -463

Disposals  -    -   -1 886 -1 886

Reclassifications and corrections  -    -   36 919 36 919

Foreign currency translation -521  -   219 -302

Balance at 31 december 2011 109 324 65 282 154 653 329 259

Additions  -   31 548 25 231 56 778

Impairment  -   -8 145  -   -8 145

Disposals  -    -   -1 846 -1 846

Foreign currency translation -1 234  -   -2 080 -3 314

Balance at 31 december 2012 108 090 88 685 175 958 372 733

amortisation/impairment

Balance at 1 January 2011 -98 349 -3 149 -56 429 -157 927

Amortisation -347 -5 073 -13 256 -18 676

Impairment  -    93  -   93

Disposals -1 345  -    -   -1 345

Reclassifications and corrections 606  -   -15 337 -14 731

Foreign currency translation 1 863  -   -219 1 644

Balance at 31 december 2011 -97 572 -8 129 -85 241 -190 942

Amortisation -95 -4 328 -14 923 -19 345

Impairment  -   6 114  -    6 114 

Disposals  -    -   -1 634 -1 634

Foreign currency translation 265  -    58  324 

Balance at 31 december 2012 -97 401 -6 343 -101 739 -205 483

net book value

Balance at 31 december 2012 10 688 82 341 74 220 167 249

Balance at 31 December 2011 11 752 57 153 69 412 138 318

NOTE 6
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Amortisable intangible assets are amortised over the following lifetimes:

asset category  Useful life
Product development 8 - 10 years
Technology  up to 10 years
Other intangible assets up to 8 years

Intangible assets are non-physical assets that have either been capi-
talized in connection with acqusition of businesses or through internal 
development of products (product development) or customisation of IT 
applications (technology and other intangible assets).

development cost
Development costs are capitalized if the costs can be measured reliably, 
the related product or process is technically and commercially feasible, 
sufficient future economic benefits will be generated and sufficient 
resources are available to complete the development. The expenditures 
capitalized include the cost of materials and direct labor. Capitalized 
development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis.   
   
Research and development (R&D) costs that are not eligible for capitaliza-
tion have been expensed and are recognised in administrative expenses 
(note 4). Product development in the Jotun Group is carried out both in 
the Jotun R&D Centre in Norway, as well as in the regional R&D labo-
ratories in Dubai, Malaysia, India, Korea and China. The combination 

of a central and regional R&D set-up is a success factor ensuring both 
a solid technology platform and necessary local product adaptations. 
Sustainability is a main driver for new developments in all segments 
(Powder, Decorative, Protective and Marine). The main focus areas are:
•	Reduced	energy	consumption	and	carbon	footprint	during	the	

lifecycle of products and the objects they are applied on by launching 
highly efficient Antifouling concepts (HPS), reducing powder coatings 
and wet coatings to be applied on buildings (Cool Shades and 
Jotashield Extreme) and low temperature curing powder coatings.

•		Reducing	VOC	emissions	by	the	development	of	high	solid	and	
water borne alternatives to traditional solvent borne paints (i.e. Lady  
Supreme Finish).

•	Introducing	more	health	friendly	decorative	paints	(SENS	and	Majestic	
EcoHealth).

•	Continuously	substituting	hazardous	raw	materials	with	less	
hazardous materials 

Within all segments the Jotun Group is commited to serve the 
markets with high quality products. A common denominator for new 
developments of high quality exterior coatings is improved durability, 
meaning better colour/gloss retention and lower dirt pick-up and better 
mould/algea resistance. An important objective for using decorative 
products is beautification of your home; Lady Pure Color and Lady Effects 
are important innovations in that segment.

Specification of tax loss carry forward and unsed tax credits    
The Group has a total loss carry forward of NOK 402 million  (2011: NOK 330 million), which gives a nominal deferred tax assets of 
NOK 130 million (2011: NOK 107 million). The total capitalised amount at 31 December 2012 is NOK 18 million (2011:  NOK 21 million).

Deferred tax assets are only capitalised to the extent that it is probable 
that there will be sufficient future taxable profit for the tax asset to 
be used, either because the unit recently reported a profit or because 
assets with excess value have been identified. To the extent that there 
is not likely to be future profits sufficient to absorb the tax-reducing 
timing differences, no deferred tax asset has been recognised.

Jotun entites in Spain, Australia and Pakistan have substantial tax 
reducing timing differences that have been recognised based on the 
expected improvement in profitability the coming years.

The Jotun Group’s operations in the US, South Africa, Spain and Brazil 
have substantial tax reducing timing differences that have not been 
recognised due to uncertainty with regard to utilisation.

(NOK thousand) 31.12.12 31.12.11

2012 - 2 475

2013 1 546 -

2014-2016 1 707 33 773

2017 and after 92 561 67 008

Without expiration 306 449 226 508

total loss carry forward 402 263 329 764

Calculated nominal tax effect of tax loss carry forward 130 503 106 511

Valuation allowance 112 916 85 154

deferred tax asset recognised in the statement of financial position 17 587 21 358

Cont. NOTE 5
INCOME TAx
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(NOK thousand)

Land Buildings
Electrical 

installation

Machinery, 
vehicles and 
equipment

Construction 
in progress

Total

cost

Balance at 1 January 2011 141 576 1 451 621 24 660 2 048 785 356 733 4 023 375

Additions at cost 41 733 84 852 2 100 217 683 449 274 795 642

Disposals -2 203 -5 610  -   -58 180  -   -65 993

Reclassifications -6 209 104 002 2 882 -42 750 -109 231 -51 305

Foreign currency translation -10 -9 895 1 818 -29 073 1 482 -35 679

Balance at 31 december 2011 174 887 1 624 971 31 459 2 136 465 698 258 4 666 040

Additions at cost 1 479 95 553 17 900 251 755 166 762 533 449

Disposals  -   -47 761 -77 -74 194 474 -121 559

Reclassifications  -   243 060 70 583 314 186 -627 828 -

Foreign currency translation -11 023 -25 138 -852 -39 803 -15 154 -91 970

Balance at 31 december 2012 165 343 1 890 704 119 013 2 588 409 222 512 4 985 982

depreciation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2011 -2 250 -706 578 -8 505 -1 487 838  -   -2 205 171

Depreciation -400 -60 016 -3 576 -164 534  -   -228 526

Depreciation on disposals 540 5 610  -   52 474  -   58 624

Foreign currency translation -5 10 868 -1 291 31 280  -   40 853

Balance at 31 december 2011 -2 115 -750 115 -13 371 -1 568 619  -   -2 334 220

Depreciation -404 -63 798 -7 609 -153 177  -   -224 987

Depreciation on disposals  -   32 262 175 75 741  -   108 178

Impairment  -   -1 386  -   -341  -   -1 727

Foreign currency translation 103 8 139 719 15 453  -   26 141

Balance at 31 december 2012 -2 416 -773 512 -20 085 -1 630 602  -   -2 426 615

net book value

Balance at 31 december 2012 162 928 1 117 192 98 928 957 807  222 512 2 559 367

Balance at 31 december 2011 172 772 874 856 18 088 567 846 698 258 2 331 819

NOTE 7
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over the following 
lifetimes:

asset category   Useful life
Land    infinite
Buildings     25-33 years
Electrical installations   10-14 years
Machinery   7-10 years
Office equipment and furniture 5-7 years
Vehicles    4-5 years
PCs and other EDP equipment 3 years

The period of depreciation is reviewed each year and if there are 
changes in useful life, depreciation is adjusted. Residual value is 
estimated and if it is higher than the carrying value, depreciation is 
stopped.

construction in progress
A major part of amount under “Construction in progress” relates to 
factory projects in Russia, China and Brazil. This mainly consists of 
production facilities and warehouses.

SHaReS Held diRectly By tHe paRent company
(NOK thousand)

Company City Country Currency Share capital No. of shares Face value Stake %

Jotun India Private Ltd. Mumbai India INR 2 777 790 136 181 666 2 777 790 100.00 

Jotun Brasil Imp. Exp. & Industria de Tintas 
Ltda.

Rio de Janeiro Brazil BRL 39 161 12 163 200 39 161 100.00 

Jotun (Malaysia) Sdn.Bhd. Kuala Lumpur Malaysia MYR 48 000 48 000 000 48 000 100.00 

Jotun Powder Coatings AS Sandefjord Norway NOK 87 000 87 000 87 000 100.00 

Jotun Paints OOO St. Petersburg Russia RUB 506 555 17 000 506 555 100.00 

Jotun Paints Sdn. Bhd. Kuala Lumpur Malaysia MYR 50 000 15 000 000 50 000 100.00 

El-Mohandes Jotun S.A.E. Cairo Egypt EGP 20 000 2 000 000 14 000 70.00 

P.T. Jotun Indonesia Jakarta Indonesia IDR 104 223 850 172 000 103 285 835 99.14 

Jotun Paints (Europe) Ltd. Flixborough UK GBP 7 500 7 500 000 7 500 100.00 

Jotun Paints (H.K.) Ltd. Hong Kong China CNY 116 797 110 334 615 116 797 100.00 

Scanox AS Drammen Norway NOK 4 000 20 000 4 000 100.00 

Jotun Paints Inc. New Orleans US USD 44 600 100 44 600 100.00 

Jotun Iberica S.A. Barcelona Spain EUR 9 103 86 845 9 103 100.00 

Jotun B.V. Spijkenisse Netherlands EUR 1 316 29 001 1 316 100.00 

Jotun Paints Co. L.L.C. Muscat Oman OMR 250 25 000 155 62.00 

Jotun Australia Pty. Ltd. Melbourne Australia AUD 11 550 16 050 001 11 550 100.00 

Jotun Thailand Ltd. Bangkok Thailand THB 84 000 84 000 80 186 95.46 

Jotun Paints South Africa (Pty) Ltd. Cape Town South Africa ZAR 55 719 110 55 719 100.00 

Jotun Paints (Vietnam) Co. Ltd. Ho Chi Minh City Vietnam USD 8 833 - 8 833 100.00 

Jotun Boya  San. ve Ticaret A.S. Istanbul Turkey TRY 25 279 30 000 000 17 738 70.17 

Jotun Italia S.p.A. Trieste Italy EUR 2 632 509 099 2 632 100.00 

Jotun (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore SGD 6 000 6 000 000 6 000 100.00 

Jotun Libya J.S.Co. Tripoli Libya LYD 7 184 65 000 5 747 80.00 

Jotun Polska Sp.zo.o. Gdynia Poland PLN 8 900 15 000 8 900 100.00 

Jotun (Deutschland) GmbH. Hamburg Germany EUR 614 1 200 512 83.33 

Jotun Pakistan (Private) Ltd. Karachi Pakistan PKR 146 124 2 761 349 146 124 100.00 

Jotun Cyprus Ltd. Limassol Cyprus USD 1 313 1 000 1 313 100.00 

Jotun Philippines Inc. Manila Phillippines PHP 52 464 15 463 695 52 464 100.00 

Jotun F.Z.E. Dubai U.A.E. AED 4 000 4 4 000 100.00 

Jotun Maroc SARL AU Casablanca Morocco MAD 8 472 20 000 8 472 100.00 

Jotun (Ireland) Ltd. Cork Ireland EUR 640 487 409 640 100.00 

Jotun Sverige AB Gothenburg Sweden SEK 4 000 80 000 4 000 100.00 

Jotun Algerie S.A.R.L Aknoun Algerie DZD 73 000 7 300 51 100 70.00 

Jotun Hellas Ltd. Glyfada Greece EUR 343 11 435 334 97.40 

Jotun Danmark A/S Kolding Denmark DKK 3 300 6 600 3 300 100.00 

Jotun Bangladesh Ltd. Dhaka Bangladesh USD 400 999 999 400 100.00 

Jotun France S.A. Paris France EUR 320 16 000 320 100.00 

Jotun Insurance Cell St. Peterport Guernsey GBP 121 1 121 100.00 

Jotun (Cambodia) Ltd. Phnom Penh Cambodia KHR 797 029 1 000 797 029 100.00 

Jotun Kazakhstan L.L.P. Almaty Kazakhstan KZT 29 350 1 29 350 100.00 

Jotun Romania S.R.L. Constanta Romania RON 640 64 000 640 100.00 

Lady Interiørmaling AS Sandefjord Norway NOK 120 1 000 120 100.00 

Jotun Optimal Utendørsmaling AS Sandefjord Norway NOK 111 500 111 100.00 

Drygolin Værbestandig Oljemaling AS Sandefjord Norway NOK 109 500 109 100.00 

The voting interest corresponds to the share interest.

NOTE 8
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
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Cont. NOTE 8
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

SHaReS Held By SUBSidiaRieS and aSSociated companieS
(NOK thousand)

Company City Country Currency Share capital No. of shares Face value Stake %

Jotun powder coatings aS

Jotun Powder Coatings (N) AS Larvik Norway NOK 12 500 125 000 12 500 100.00 

Jotun Boya San. Ve Ticaret A.S. Istanbul Turkey TRY 25 279 12 752 770 7 541 29.83 

Jotun Powder Coatings (Thailand) Ltd. Bangkok Thailand THB 9 000 9 000 9 000 100.00 

Jotun Powder Coatings (CZ) a.s. Usti nad Labem Czech Republic CZK 128 000 12 800 128 000 100.00 

Jotun Powder Coatings (M) Sdn. Bhd. Kuala Lumpur Malaysia MYR 1 950 2 329 234 1 950 100.00 

PT Jotun Powder Coatings Indonesia Jakarta Indonesia IDR 30 343 803 121 000 30 343 803 100.00 

Jotun Powder Coatings Pakistan (Pvt.) Ltd. Lahore Pakistan PKR 199 990 18 798 998 187 991 94.00 

Jotun Powder Coatings (India) Private Ltd. Mumbai India INR 68 600 6 860 000 68 600 100.00 

Jotun Powder Coatings Ltd. Flixborough UK GBP 400 1 000 000 400 100.00 

Jotun Bulgaria EOOD Ltd. Sofia Bulgaria EUR 3   -   3 100.00 

Jotun Powder Coatings L.L.L. Cairo Egypt EGP 5 300 5 90.00 

Jotun paints (Hk) ltd.

Jotun Coatings (Zhangjiagang) Co. Ltd. Zhangjiagang China CNY 217 858 - 217 858 100.00 

Jotun paints inc

PRS Delaware L.L.C. New Orleans US USD 1 000 100 1 000 100.00 

Jotun B.V.

Jotun (Deutschland) Gmbh Hamburg Germany EUR 614 1 200 102 16.67 

Jotun Hellas Ltd. Glyfada Greece EUR 343 300 9 2.60 

Scanox aS

Butinox Futura Beis og Maling AS Drammen Norway NOK 100 500 100 100.00 

Jotun powder coatings (n) aS

Jotun Powder Coatings L.L.L. Cairo Egypt EGP 5 300 5 10.00 

Jotun Singapore pte ltd

P.T Jotun Indonesia Jakarta Indonesia IDR 104 223 850 - 938 015 0.86 

Jotun (ireland) ltd

Penguin Paints Ltd. Cork Ireland EUR 64 100 64 100.00

The voting interest corresponds to the share interest.

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures are recognised in the Group’s accounts applying the equity method.  

JotUn gRoUp total oVeRView inVeStmentS in aSSociated companieS and Joint VentUReS

2012 2011

(NOK thousand)

Associated 
companies

Joint Ventures Total
Associated 
companies

Joint Ventures Total

Carrying amount 1 January 502 341 443 571 945 912 473 084 378 811 851 893

Net profit / (loss) during the year 243 896 95 832 339 728 197 400 67 602 265 002

Exchange differences -46 327 -22 846 -69 173 32 197 20 309 52 506

Dividend -204 094 - -204 094 -199 157 -23 310 -222 467

Other equity changes - - - -1 182 160 -1 022

carrying amount 31 december  495 816  516 557 1 012 373  502 341  443 571  945 912 

NOTE 9
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT VENTURES

Cont. NOTE 9
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT VENTURES

Jotun Group has the following investments in associated companies (all the associated companies are limited liability companies): 
      

(NOK thousand)

Red Sea 
Paints Co. 

Ltd.

Jotun Saudia 
Co. Ltd.

Jotun 
Yemen 
Paints 
Ltd.

Jotun 
U.A.E. Ltd. 

(L.L.C.)

Jotun Abu 
Dhabi Ltd. 

(L.L.C.)

Jotun Powder 
Coat. Saudi 
Arabia Co. 

Ltd.

Jotun Powder 
Coatings 

U.A.E. Ltd. 
(L.L.C.)

Total

Country Saudi Arabia Saudi Arabia Yemen U.A.E. U.A.E. Saudi Arabia U.A.E.

Ownership interest 40.0 % 40.0 % 34.4 % 41.5 % 51.6 % 46.6 % 47.0 %

Carrying amount 1 January 
2012

20 228 160 627 1 822 163 065 89 157 32 105 35 338 502 341

Net profit / (loss) during 
the year

3 984 80 971 -683 75 933 57 328 15 903 10 459 243 896

Exchange differences -1 618 -14 934 -102 -15 087 -8 687 -2 949 -2 950 -46 327

Dividend -1 190 -70 219 - -73 276 -46 558 - -12 851 -204 094

carrying amount 
31 december 2012

 21 403  156 445  1 037  150 635  91 239  45 059  29 997  495 816 

Although the Group holds more than 50 per cent of the ownership interest in Jotun Abu Dhabi Ltd. (L.L.C.), the Group do not have the power over the investee, or the ability to exercise significant 
influence. This investment is classified as an associated company.

Jotun Group has the following investments in joint ventures (all the joint ventures are limited liability companies):   
        

(NOK thousand)

Chokwang 
Jotun Ltd.

Jotun COSCO Marine 
Coatings (GZ) Ltd.

Jotun COSCO Marine 
Coatings (Qingdao) Co.

Jotun COSCO Marine 
Coatings (H.K.) Ltd.

Total

Country South Korea China China China

Figures based on ownership 50.0 % 50.0 % 50.0 % 50.0 %

Carrying amount 1 January 2012 160 498 111 417 57 680 113 977 443 571

Net profit / (loss) during the year 57 969 12 688 4 816 20 359 95 832

Exchange differences 2 340 -7 344 -10 468 -7 374 -22 846

carrying amount 31 december 2012  220 807  116 761  52 028  126 962  516 557 

A summary of the financial information on the individual associated companies, based on 100 per cent figures:   
           

(NOK thousand)

Red Sea 
Paints Co 

Ltd.

Jotun Saudia 
Co Ltd.

Jotun
Yemen 

Paints Ltd.

Jotun 
U.A.E Ltd 

(L.L.C.)

Jotun Abu 
Dhabi Ltd 

(L.L.C.)

Jotun Powder 
Coatings Saudi 
Arabia Co. Ltd.

Jotun Powder 
Coatings 

U.A.E. Ltd.

Long-term assets  43 465  196 183  5 103  92 847  30 749  12 012  61 869 

Current assets  52 051  333 343  7 580  402 779  221 409  127 273  117 318 

total assets  95 517  529 526  12 683  495 626  252 159  139 285  179 187 

Equity  53 508  391 112  3 012  365 408  176 821  96 693  68 185 

Long-term liabilities  11 499  61 237  7 272  10 305  726  3 191  10 226 

Current liabilities  30 510  77 177  2 398  119 913  74 612  39 401  100 776 

total equity and liabilities  95 517  529 526  12 683  495 626  252 159  139 285  179 187 

Revenues  -    964 042  10 298  1 003 132  516 454  283 472  299 248 

Profit / (loss) for the year  9 960  202 428 -1 983  182 971  111 101  34 127  22 254 
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NOTE 10
OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Cont. NOTE 10
OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The note gives an overview of the carrying and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments and the accounting treatment of these instruments. 
The table is the basis for all further information regarding the Group’s financial risk and refers to the subsequent notes on this subject. The table also 
shows the level of objectivity in the measurement hierarchy of each method of measuring the fair value of the Group’s instruments.

2012

(NOK thousand)

Note
Measure-

ment level

Financial instru-
ments at fair 

value through 
statement of 

income

Financial 
instruments at fair 

value through other 
comprehensive 

income

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised 

cost

Deposits 
and

receivables
Total

Of this 
interest-
bearing

non-current assets

Share investments 3  8 248  8 248 

Non-current financial receivables  264 125  264 125 

total  8 248  -    -    264 125  272 373  -   

current assets

Accounts receivable 12  2 199 213  2 199 213 

Other current receivables 12  624 357  624 357 

Current derivatives 1  3 593  3 593 

Cash and cash equivalents  802 012  802 012 

total  3 593  -    -    3 625 582  3 629 175  -   

total financial assets  11 841  -    -    3 889 707  3 901 548  -   

non-current liabilities  -   

Non-current financial liabilities 15 2  60 424  60 424  60 424 

total  -    -    60 424  -    60 424  60 424 

current liabilities

Current financial liabilities 16  21  1 875 471  1 875 471  1 875 471 

Accounts payable 17  1 096 894  1 096 894 

Current derivatives 21  884  -    1 005 166  1 006 050 

total  884  -    3 977 531  -    3 978 415  1 875 471 

total financial liabilities  884  -    4 037 955  -    4 038 839  1 935 895 

Total measurement level 1 (Quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities)
Total measurement level 2 (Other techniques for which all inputs that have significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, directly or indirectly)
Total measurement level 3 (Techniques which use inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data)

Cont. NOTE 9
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT VENTURES

A summary of the financial information on the individual joint ventures, based on 100 per cent figures:    
       

(NOK thousand)
Chokwang Jotun Ltd.

Jotun COSCO Marine 
Coat. (Guangzhou) Ltd.

Jotun COSCO Marine 
Coatings (Qingdao) Co.

Jotun COSCO Marine 
Coatings (H.K.) Ltd.

Long-term assets  206 850  10 781  180 198  466 983 

Current assets  732 982  373 864  746 920  128 613 

total assets  939 832  384 645  927 118  595 595 

Equity  441 612  233 521  318 779  309 586 

Long-term liabilities  196 618  33 475  170 166  206 431 

Current liabilities  301 602  117 648  438 174  79 578 

total equity and liabilities  939 832  384 645  927 118  595 595 

Revenues  1 187 992  698 612  1 757 231  401 690 

net profit / (loss) for the year  115 938  25 376  9 632  40 718 

Jotun Group holds 33.4 per cent of the shares in Nor-Maali Oy. Although the Group holds more than 20 per cent of the ownership interest, the Group 
does not have the ability to exercise significant influence. This investment is classified as other investments.     
  

NOTE 11
INVENTORIES

(NOK thousand) 31.12.12 31.12.11

Raw materials at cost 650 087 809 051

Finished goods at cost 919 347 1 030 401

total 1 569 434 1 839 452

Total allowance for obsolete inventories at year end 58 663 56 278

2011

(NOK thousand)

Note
Measure-

ment level

Financial instru-
ments at fair 

value through 
statement of 

income

Financial instru-
ments at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised 

cost

Deposits and 
receivables

Total
Of this 

interest-
bearing

non-current assets

Share investments 3  8 248  8 248 

Non-current financial receivables  168 890  168 890 

total  8 248  -    -    168 890  177 138  -   

current assets

Accounts receivable 12  2 522 454  2 522 454 

Other current receivables 12  418 084  418 084 

Current derivatives 1  930  930 

Cash and cash equivalents  617 923  617 923 

total  930  -    -    3 558 461  3 559 391  -   

total financial assets  9 178  -    -    3 727 351  3 736 529  -   

non-current liabilities  -   

Non-current financial liabilities 15, 21 2  4 067  4 067  4 067 

total  -    -    4 067  -    4 067  4 067 

current liabilities

Current financial liabilities 16  1 451 219  1 451 219  1 451 219 

Accounts payable 17  1 341 027  1 341 027 

Current derivatives 21 1  24 656  12 119  36 775 

total  24 656  12 119  2 792 246  -    2 829 021  1 451 219 

total financial liabilities  24 656  12 119  2 796 313  -    2 833 088  1 455 286 

Total measurement level 1 (Quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities)
Total measurement level 2 (Other techniques for that all inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, directly or indirectly)
Total measurement level 3 (Techniques which use inputs which have significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data)
       
Share investment consist of 33.4 per cent of the shares in Nor-Maali OY.   

Inventories consists of the Group’s stock of raw materials and finished goods. Inventories are valued at the lowest value of purchase price, 
material cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are assigned by using weighted average cost formula. Production cost for finished 
goods include direct materials and wages as well as share of indirect manufacturing costs. Deduction has been made for obsolescence.
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NOTE 14
SHARE CAPITAL, SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND

Cont. NOTE 14
SHARE CAPITAL, SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND

NOTE 13
CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS

(NOK thousand) Quantity Face value Balance sheet

A-Shares 114 000 300 34 200

B-Shares 228 000 300 68 400

total 342 000 300 102 600

Changes in allowances for bad debt is shown in following table:

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Allowances for bad debt as of 1 January 146 451 167 038

Allowances for bad debt made during the period  43 319 5 952

Realized losses for the year -27 787 -26 539

total allowances for bad debt as of 31  december 161 983 146 451

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents comprise the following at 31 December:

(NOK thousand)  31.12.12  31.12.11

Cash at banks and on hand 586 114 452 677

Current deposits 215 898 165 246

total 802 012 617 923

Cash and cash equivalents have a maturity between one day and tree months. Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily 
bank deposit rates. The average interest rate for bank deposits are approximately 1.74 per cent as of 31 December 2012 (2011: 1.11  per cent). 
Current deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
       
At 31 December 2012 the Group had available NOK 1 900 million (2011: NOK 1 425 million) of undrawn credit facilities.

The maximum credit risk exposure at the year end is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. Further information regarding 
credit risk and foreign exchange risk regarding accounts receivables is discussed in note 21.

Aging of accounts receivable as of 31 December was as follows:

(NOK thousand)
Total Not due

Overdue

Less than 30 days 30-60 days 60-90 days More than 90 days

2012*  2 361 195  1 303 739  448 012  149 901  79 423  380 120 

2011*  2 300 868  1 309 649  460 616  148 194  88 040  294 370 

* Does not include allowance for bad debt.

owneRSHip StRUctURe

The number of shareholders as of 31 December 2012 was 631. The largest shareholders were:

Shareholders A-shares B-shares Total Share interest in % Voting interest in %

Lilleborg AS 42 000 103 446 145 446 42.5 38.3

Odd Gleditsch A/S 11 419 36 990 48 409 14.2 11.1

Mattisberget AS 25 053 386 25 439 7.4 18.3

Leo Invest AS 2 988 7 512 10 500 3.1 2.7

Abrafam Holding AS * 3 368 3 815 7 183 2.1 2.7

BOG Invest AS * - 6 850 6 850 2.0 0.5

ACG AS * - 5 548 5 548 1.6 0.4

Elanel AS 3 011 2 353 5 364 1.6 2.4

HEJO Holding AS * - 5 240 5 240 1.5 0.4

Bjørn Ekdahl 1 872 3 281 5 153 1.5 1.6

Odd Gleditsch Jr. 4 681 43 4 724 1.4 3.4

Live Invest AS 4 056 567 4 623 1.4 3.0

Kofreni AS * 131 4 114 4 245 1.2 0.4

Bjørn Ole Gleditsch 26 3 679 3 705 1.1 0.3

Pina AS - 3 443 3 443 1.0 0.3

Conrad Wilhelm Eger 1 172 2 155 3 327 1.0 1.0

Jill Beate Gleditsch - 3 172 3 172 0.9 0.2

Anne Cecilie Gleditsch 5 3 161 3 166 0.9 0.2

Fredrikke Eger 1 000 2 084 3 084 0.9 0.9

Britt Fanny Arnesen 1 855 1 178 3 033 0.9 1.4

total 20 largest 102 637 199 017 301 654 88.2 89.6

total others  11 363  28 983 40 346 11.8 10.4

total number of shares 114 000 228 000 342 000 100 100

The share capital in Jotun A/S as of 31 December 2012 consists of the follwing share classes:

At the general meeting, each A-share has ten and each B-share has one vote. There are no changes from last year. All shares are issued and 
fully paid.

*The Majority of the shares in following companies are owned by:
HEJO Holding AS owned by Odd Gleditsch d.y.
Abrafam Holding AS partly owned by Einar Abrahamsen
Kofreni AS partly owned by Nicolai A. Eger
BOG Invest AS owned by Bjørn Ole Gleditsch
ACG AS owned by Anne Cecilie Gleditsch

SHaReS owned By memBeRS oF tHe BoaRd oF diRectoRS, coRpoRate aSSemBly, pReSident & ceo and/oR 
Related paRtieS:

Name Office A-shares B-shares Total shares

Odd Gleditsch d.y. Chairman of the board 27 8 222 8 249

Einar Abrahamsen Member of the board 3 368 3 817 7 185

Richard Arnesen Member of the board 1 855 3 129 4 984

Nicolai A. Eger Member of the board 1 110 5 203 6 313

Birger Amundsen Member of the board - 2 2

Olav Christensen Chairman of the corporate assembly 3 011 2 365 5 376

Bjørn Ole Gleditsch Member of the corporate assembly 26 10 529 10 555

Anne Cecilie Gleditsch Member of the corporate assembly 5 8 710 8 715

Kornelia Eger Member of the corporate assembly 100 271 371

Richard Arnesen jr. Member of the corporate assembly 7 10 17

Terje V. Arnesen Member of the corporate assembly - 1 1

Morten Fon CEO 8 18 26

Bård K. Tonning Head of Jotun Dekorativ - 3 3

Erik R. Aaberg Head of Jotun Paints - 15 15

Esben Hersve Head of Jotun Coatings - 4 4

There are no options for share acquisitions.

NOTE 12
RECEIVABLES

(NOK thousand)  31.12.12  31.12.11

Accounts receivables 2 199 212 2 522 454

Bank receivables 53 812 55 971

Other receivables 570 545 362 112

total receivables 2 823 569 2 940 537

Bank receivables consist of bank drafts received from customers for payment of accounts receivables.    
             
Allowances for losses have been recorded upon individual evaluation of the accounts receivable and other receivables. Realised and provided 
losses for bad debt is classified as other operating expenses in the income statement.
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non-cURRent inteReSt-BeaRing deBt Carrying amount

(NOK thousand) Maturity date  31.12.12  31.12.11

Bank debt secured 2 990 3 521

Bank debt unsecured 2013-2020 67 624 46 169

total non-current interest-bearing debt 70 614 49 690

First year’s repayments on non-current debt 2013 -10 190 -45 623

total non-current interest-bearing debt excluding first year’s repayments  60 424  4 067 

Weighted average interest rates 6.3 % 5.4 %

The two major long-term loans belongs to Jotun Coatings (Zhangjiagang) Co. Ltd.  (NOK 45 million) and Jotun India Private Ltd. (NOK 12 
million).

cURRent inteReSt-BeaRing deBt Carrying amount

(NOK thousand)  31.12.12  31.12.11

Bank debt, secured 30 143 2 610

Certificate loans and credit line facilities, unsecured 1 835 138 1 402 986

Bank debt, current 1 865 281 1 405 596

Reclassification from non-current interest-bearing debt 10 190 45 623

total current interest-bearing debt 1 875 471 1 451 219

Weighted average interest rates 4.3 % 6.3 %

otHeR cURRent liaBilitieS Carrying amount

(NOK thousand)  31.12.12  31.12.11

Trade accounts payables 1 096 894 1 341 027

Public charges and holiday pay 149 137 133 985

Tax payable, ref. note 5 90 657 187 432

Prepaid dividend 120 634 96 170

Other accrued expenses 515 500 486 175

Total current provisions, ref. note 18 130 122 40 659

total other current liabilities 2 102 944 2 285 448

pRoViSionS 2012

(NOK thousand)  Claims  Restructuring   Environmental  Other   Total provisions 

Total provisions 1 January 2012  40 659 45 976 62 310 47 537 196 482

Provisions arising during the year 10 960 5 760 -  39 775 56 495

Utilised -15 691 -13 107 -500 -34 592 -63 890

Unused amounts reversed -1 013 -10 317 -6 842 - -18 172

Currency translation effects  493 - 32 -92 434

total provisions 31 december 2012 35 408 28 312 55 000 52 629 171 349

Current, ref. note 17 24 941 22 552 30 000 52 629 130 122

Non-current 10 467 5 760 25 000 - 41 227

total 35 408 28 312 55 000 52 629 171 349

NOTE 15
NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

NOTE 16
CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

NOTE 17
OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

NOTE 18
PROVISIONS

The Jotun Group’s funding is based on a negative pledge principle, 
with a limitation on how much of the assets that can be used as 
security for loans. The limitation is 10 per cent of total consolidated 
assets for the Group according to IFRS. As of 31 December 2012 two 
companies have bank debt secured by pledged assets (Jotun Pakistan 
(Private) Ltd. and El-Mohandes Jotun S.A.E.) with an amount of NOK 
30 million.  The book value of these assets was NOK 100 million at 
year end.
       
Current interest-bearing loans consists of certificate loans in Jotun 

A/S of NOK 1 300 million total, with maturity dates within the first 
nine months of 2013. The remaining part is short-term bank loans 
and overdraft facilities with yearly renewal. Average maturity of these 
loans is six months. The Group’s current loans are backed by non-cur-
rent credit facilities of NOK 2 000 million.
       
The parent company Jotun A/S, has provided guarantees at 31 
December 2012 related to financial obligations held by subsidiaries 
to a maximum amount of NOK 44 million. This contingent liability is 
not recognised in the Group’s financial statement.

loan covenants
The loan covenants in the Group’s long-term credit facilities of NOK 
2000 million are linked, among other things, to the equity ratio 
(equity / total assets) and the debt ratio (net interest-bearing debt / 
EBITDA). According to the agreement, all key figures are calculated 
using a 12 - month average exchange rate.

Other accrued expenses are related to bonuses to employees, agent fees/commissions, sales, marketing and other accrued expenses.

Repayment pRoFile

(NOK thousand) Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter

Bank debt at 31.12.2012 70 614 10 190 45 529 376 322 260 13 938

Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter

Bank debt at 31.12.2011 49 690 45 623 816 541 351 299 2 060

diVidend paid and pRopoSed

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

declared and paid during the year

Dividend on ordinary shares:

Final dividend (NOK 1 500 per share in 2011 and NOK 750 per share in 2010) 513 000 272 364

proposed for approval at the annual general meeting

Dividend on ordinary shares:

Final dividend 2012: NOK 1 500 per share (2011: 1 500 NOK per share) 513 000 513 000

Cont. NOTE 14
SHARE CAPITAL, SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND

(NOK thousand)

Required level 
(covenant)

Status year 
end 2012

Equity ratio Minimum 25 % 54 %

Net debt/EBITDA* Maximum 4.0 0.64

*) EBITDA = Operating Profit before amortisation, depreciation and impairment

non-cURRent inteReSt-BeaRing deBt By cURRency 
(NOK thousand)

Currency amount 
31.12.12

NOK
31.12.12

NOK
31.12.11

USD 10 195 57 261 36 074

EUR 53 399 313

Other 20 980 12 954 13 303

total non-current interest-bearing debt 70 614 49 690
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disputes and claims    
Jotun Group is, through its on-going business operations, involved 
in disputes and claims cases in connection with the company’s oper-
ational activities. Provisions have been made to cover the expected 
outcome of disputes so far as negative outcomes are probable and 
reliable estimates can be made. In evaluating the size of the provi-
sions expected insurance cover is taken into account separately. 
Jotun acknowledges the uncertainty of the disputes, but believes 
that these cases will be resolved without significant impact on the 
Group’s financial position. There are no significant disputes or claims 
with the uncertainty of probability or unreliable estimate accounted 
for in the balance sheet.

environmental matters    
A number of factories have been inspected regarding environ-
mental conditions in the ground. Actions have either been taken 
on own initiative or implemented on the order of local authorities. 
Inspections and measurements are made by independent specialists 
in the field. For clean-up projects where implementation is consid-
ered to be probable and for which reliable estimates have been done 
provisions are made accordingly. The future expenditures for reme-
diation work depends on a number of uncertain factors, such as the 
extent and type of remediation required. Environmental laws and 
regulations may change, and such changes may require the Group 
to make investments and/or increase costs. Due to uncertainties 
inherent in the estimation process, it is possible that such estimates 
could be revised in the near term.

claims      
A provision is recognised for expected warranty claims on products 
sold, based on past experience of the level of repairs and returns. 
It is expected that most of these costs will be incurred in the next 
financial year (see note 17) and all will have been incurred within 
two years after the reporting date. Assumptions used to calculate 
the provision for claims were based on current information available 
about claim cases and the expected claims based on the warranty 
period for specific products sold.
       
Restructuring provisions      
Non-current provisions for restructuring are related to close-down of 
plants in Norway. For all restructuring provisions detailed plans have 
been made and implemented. In accordance with the restructuring 
plans most of the costs will incur in 2013 and 2014.
       

environmental provisions      
Jotun Group has recorded provisions for environmental liabilities 
at some currently or formerly owned, leased and third party sites 
throughout the world. Pre-studies and analysis of relevant areas have 
been undertaken to reliably estimate the provisions that have been 
recognised. The clean-up activities will intentionally start in 2013-
2015 and continue until 2018. These provisions are estimates of 
amounts payable or expected to become payable.
       
other provisions      
Other provisions are other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. 
It is our opinion that the provisions made are adequate based upon 
currently available information.

The Group has the following contractual obligations and guarantees 
per 2012:
     
purchase obligations  
The Group’s contractual purchase obligations are mainly related to 
investments in new plants and buildings. For expansion and on-going 
projects in Brazil, Pakistan, Vietnam, Indonesia and Russia contrac-
tually committed capex is NOK 93 million as of 31 December 2012. 
For purchase of raw materials there are no actual commitments for 

the Group. In general these contracts can be terminated more or less 
without penalties.

Sales obligations  
The Jotun Group has several sales contracts that are material for 
each entity. We have evaluated existing contracts with contract value 
of NOK 10 million or more. These contracts are mainly related to 
the protective or marine business. Products are often considered 
to be commodities in these markets, and alternative suppliers and 

products are available. Contracts can easily be transferred to other 
suppliers without inconvenience to the customer and therefore there 
is no actual commitment involved. Some contracts include breach 
penalty clauses. Should the Group be forced to cancel any agree-
ment with penalty clause that situation could involve compensation 
of 10  per cent of contract value. The actual commitment related to 
these contracts is approximately NOK 35 million. For most contracts 
within the Group there are no penalty clauses involved. In some situ-
ations breach could cause obligation to compensate the customer for 

change of supplier, including price variations. This type of commit-
ment is considered to be insignificant for the Group.

other obligations  
On behalf of subsidiaries and joint ventures Jotun A/S issued 
Letters of Comfort amounting to NOK 1 105 million in 2012 (2011: 
NOK 1 206 million). Guarantees covering tax withholding and other 
guarantees for subsidiaries amounts to approximately NOK 95 million 
(2011: NOK 85 million).

oRganiSation oF Financial RiSk management  
The Jotun Group operates internationally and is exposed to financial 
risks like currency risk, interest rate risk, commodity price risk, liquidity 
risk and credit risk. The Jotun Group uses financial instruments to 
reduce these risks in accordance with the Group’s Treasury policy.

The responsibility for managing financial risk in the Jotun Group is 
divided between the individual operational entities and Group level, 
which manages risk related to centralised activities like funding and 
currency risk management. The Group’s top management oversees 
the management of these risks. The Group Treasury provides assur-
ance to the Group’s top management that the Group’s financial risk 
activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and 
that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accor-
dance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives. It is the Group’s 
policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be 
undertaken. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for 
managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

centralised risk management 
The Jotun Group is focused on financial flexibility in the short and 
long term, and to monitor and manage financial risk in cooperation 
with individual operational entities. The Group Treasury acts as the 
internal bank for the Group and is responsible for, and executes, 
all major external funding and hedging transactions relating to 
currency rate hedging. Debt and treasury positions are managed in a 
non-speculative manner, such that all transactions in financial instru-
ments are matched to an underlying business requirement.

Financial risks within each operating entity
Each company in the Jotun Group handles its own currency risk and 
risk related to raw material price movements. Hedging of these expo-
sures shall be based on a local Finance policy in compliance with the 
Group Treasury policy, approved by the local Board of Directors and 
the Jotun Group. All local hedging activities are monitored by Group 
treasury, and a majority of the hedging instruments are executed by 
Group Treasury on behalf of the local entities.

categoRieS oF Financial RiSkS and RiSk policieS FoR 
tHe gRoUp  
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s 
exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates 
primarily to the Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries and 
the Group’s operating activities, when revenue or expense is denomi-
nated in a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency risk on net investments
As NOK is the functional currency for Jotun A/S and the presenta-
tion currency for the Jotun Group, the Group is exposed to currency 
translation risk for net investments in foreign operations. Jotun 

Group’s policy is not to hedge this exposure.

Foreign currency risk on operational cash flows
Each operating unit has a net inflow or outflow of foreign currency 
related to product sales and raw material purchases. The currency 
risk arises when the movements in currency rates can not immedi-
ately be passed on to the product prices. This creates an impact on 
the operational result. The Jotun Group has a policy to hedge against 
this effect, in companies where the effect is significant.

Foreign currency risk on financial cash flows
Foreign currency financial cash flows such as dividend payments, 
royalty payments, interest payments, instalments and issuing of 
loans and equity, gives a currency exposure. For the Group this risk 
is concentrated to Jotun A/S. The policy is to hedge this exposure.

interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows will fluc-
tuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s expo-
sure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to 
the Group’s debt obligations with floating interest rates. The Jotun 
Group has low net interest-bearing debt. The interest rate risk is not 
regarded as critical.

liquidity risk
The main purpose of the Group Treasury policy is to ensure that 
the Group has sufficient financial flexibility in the short- and long-
term to achieve the strategic and operational objectives. The Jotun 
Group’s policy is to have sufficient long-term loan agreements and 
committed credit facilities to cover expected financing needs with an 
additional strategic reserve of five per cent of  consolidated sales. The 
Jotun Group’s credit facilities are normally refinanced one year before 
maturity. Commercial papers are used as a source of liquidity when 
conditions in these markets are competitive compared to drawing 
on committed long-term credit facilities. The Group has assessed 
the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and 
concluded it to be low. Access to sources of funding is sufficiently 
available. Cash flow from operations has seasonal cycles, especially 
for Dekorativ Scandinavia. Through the winter and spring there is 
a substantial build-up of working capital as a preparation for the 
summer sales season. This is an expected cyclical movement and is 
taken into account when planning the financing. Other drivers for 
the liquidity development are the investments in new factories and 
changes in the tied-up working capital in the individual companies 
other than Dekorativ Scandinavia. Investments are financed mostly 
from Jotun A/S and the cash flows are predictable as the financing 
for each project is planned well in beforehand. Working capital 
movements are a mix of companies in a lot of different countries and 
levels out over time.

In order to further reduce refinancing risk, the Group has a policy to 
distribute maturities of loans and credit facilities evenly.

NOTE 19
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

NOTE 20
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND GUARANTEES

Cont. NOTE 20
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND GUARANTEES

NOTE 21
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

pRoViSionS 2011

(NOK thousand)  Claims  Restructuring   Environmental  Other   Total provisions 

Total provisions 1 January 2011  64 872 55 563 35 768 16 627 172 830

Provisions arising during the year  40 659  -   26 500 83 347 150 506

Utilised  (64 023) -6 447 - -52 437 -122 907

Unused amounts reversed - -3 247 - - -3 247

Currency translation effects  -849 107 42 - -700

total provisions 31 december 2011  40 659 45 976 62 310 47 537 196 482

Current, ref. note 17 40 659 - - - 40 659

Non-current - 45 976 62 310 47 537 155 823

total 40 659 45 976 62 310 47 537 196 482

Cont. NOTE 18
PROVISIONS
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Looking at sales and operating profit, we have the following distribution between NOK and foreign currencies:

The credit lines have the following maturity:

Translating local currency figures into NOK, a ten per cent currency 
change gives an impact on the sales figures and the operating profit 
figures on NOK 817 million and NOK 95 million respectively. The 
profit margin impact is only marginal, since the change occurs both 
in the operating profit and in the sales figure.

liquidity risk
The Jotun Group has long-term credit lines amounting to NOK 2 000 
million covering expected and planned financing needs including a 
contingency financing of five per cent of consolidated turnover. Per 
December 2012 we are utilising NOK 100 million of this facility.

loan covenants
The loan covenants in the Group’s credit facility of NOK 2 000 million are linked to the equity ratio (equity / total assets) and the debt ratio 
(net interest-bearing debt / EBITDA). 

The Jotun Group has the following covenants in its credit line agreements:

Based on this the liquidity risk is regarded as small.

credit risk
Receivables from customers amounted to NOK 2 361 million at year 
end 2012 in the consolidated accounts. Ten per cent loss would imply 
NOK 236 million. The Jotun Group has had an actual average loss of 
0.36 per cent of sales year over the last five years.

interest rate risk
Based on the year end net debt situation of NOK 870 million, a two 
per cent interest increase will give an increase in yearly interest cost 
of NOK 17 million. Based on the 2012 average net debt level of NOK
1 156 million, a two per cent interest increase will give an increase in 
yearly interest cost of NOK 23 million 

Raw material price risk 
The effect of ten per cent change in raw material prices would be 
NOK 630 million. This effect takes into account only the cost side. 
Over time the Jotun Group will be able to adjust sales prices to 
compensate for a change in raw material prices. The net effect will 
be less than in the sensitivity analysis.

Hedging eFFectS 2012
cash flows
The Group has currency in- and outflows which are hedged according 
to the Group’s policy. All contracts mature in 2013, with a majority 
within the first six months.

(NOK thousand) Total Of which in currency Translation effect of 10 % currency change

Sales 2012 11 350 602 8 168 810 816 881

Operating profit 2012 1 125 810 952 070 95 207

Required level (Covenant) Status year end 2012

Equity ration Minimum 25 % 54 %

Net debt/ EBITDA* Maximum 4.0 0.63

*)EBITDA = Operating Profit before amortisation and depreciation

(NOK thousand) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total

Maturity - -  600 000  1 000 000  400 000  2 000 000 

2012
(NOK thousand)

Hedged volume Unrealised gain/loss (-) Realised  effects 2012

Hedging of income

USD fwd 39 054 2 058 -2 817

USD options 161 797 791 -1 900

Other currencies - - 268

total 200 851 2 849 -4 449

Hedging of costs

EUR fwd 22 086 -159 -17 515

EUR options 265 036 -725 -1 192

Other currencies - - 1 003

total 287 122 -884 -17 705

total cash flow hedging 487 973 1 965 -22 153

2011
(NOK thousand)

Hedged volume Unrealised gain/loss (-) Realised  effects 2011

Hedging of income

USD fwd 216 579 -12 652 43 067

USD options 97 036 -5 034 -2 989

Other currencies 96 731 -1 859 3 010

total 410 346 -19 545 43 088

Hedging of costs

EUR fwd 348 251 -2 604 -17 431

EUR options 54 963 -286 -4 027

Other currencies 21 774 871 -6 696

total 424 989 -2 019 -28 154

total cash flow hedging 835 334 -21 565 14 934

credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obliga-
tions under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a 
financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating 
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activi-
ties, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign 
exchange transactions and other financial instruments.

There is no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of single 
counterparts. Some groups of counterparts can be viewed as signifi-
cant: Shipyards, ship owners, real estate developers and some larger 
retail chains in Scandinavia. In combination with a geographical 
distribution and few large single accounts, the credit risk in the Jotun 
Group is viewed to be well diversified.

The requirement for an impairment is analysed at each reporting 
date on individual customer basis. The calculation is based on actual 
incurred historical data. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets 
disclosed in note 10. The Group does not hold collateral as security. 
The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade 
receivables as low, as its customers are located in several jurisdic-
tions and industries and operate in largely independent markets. The 
losses on accounts receivables have been insignificant through the 
Jotun Group’s history.

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject 
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating 
to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer 
is assessed by the respective business unit and individual credit 
limits are defined in accordance with this assessment. Outstanding 
customer receivables are regularly monitored and credit risk assess-
ments are undertaken. The Jotun Group has no general policy for 
credit risk insurance. Individual companies can insure their risk based 
on local circumstances.

Jotun A/S has International Swap Dealers Association (ISDA) agree-
ments with its counterparts for derivative transactions, and transac-
tions are made only with the Jotun Group core relationship banks 
with satisfactory ratings. 

price risk on input factors
The Group is exposed to a significant price risk in respect of a number 
of raw materials. Raw material purchases accounts for almost 60 per 
cent of total sales revenue. The volatile raw material prices the last 

years have had a significant impact. Large short-term increases in 
the raw material prices can not be compensated immediately in the 
product prices, and in the period until product prices can be increased, 
the profit will suffer. It is important to notice though, that in the last 
two years when raw material prices have increased substantially, the 
Group has still managed to maintain a healthy profit.

Most of the raw materials do not have a financial derivative price 
market, and therefore most of the raw material prices are not acces-
sible for hedging. Two raw material prices are hedged, namely copper 
and zinc price. Copper and zinc accounts for around five per cent of 
the total raw material purchase in the Group.

SenSitiVity analySiS
Foreign currency risk on net investments
Net investments in foreign currencies are calculated to NOK 5 326 
million. For the purpose of calculating the underlying risk, we have 
summed up the booked equity and internal loans for all foreign enti-
ties and adjusted for the Jotun Group’s ownership share in each of 
the companies. A majority of the equity stems from companies in 
the Middle East (USD pegged currencies) and the rest of Asia, where 
China and Korea are significant (CNY is partly pegged to the USD). In 
the overall picture the equity of the Jotun Group has historically had 
a strong correlation to USD.

Strengthening of the NOK against all currencies by ten per cent would 
result in a reduction of equity of NOK 533 million. Such currency 
effect would decrease the equity, but also decrease the value of the 
total assets. The effect on the equity ratio would be negligible.

Foreign currency risk on operational cash flows
Each operating unit has a net inflow or outflow of foreign currency 
related to product sales and raw material purchases. The major 
currency involved is USD. Most purchases of raw material are made 
in USD and in some of the market segments like the marine industry, 
the sales are also made in USD. Summing up the net USD exposure 
in all individual companies is relatively small. The amount of USD 
raw material purchase is close to the amount of USD sales in total. 
Movements in USD against all the local currencies have only small 
impact on the net results of Jotun.

Still, when all local sales and profit figures are converted to NOK 
in the monthly reporting there is a translation effect in the NOK 
numbers. This reflects the currency movement between NOK and all 
the relevant foreign currencies. This conversion effect is not hedged.

Cont. NOTE 21
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Cont. NOTE 21
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
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Related parties
(NOK thousand)

Sales to Purchase from    Loan to Interests on loans to
Other current 

liabilities 
Trade and other receivables 

Joint ventures 976 101 239 474 196 798 5 807 40 656 146 908

Associates 67 672 58 243 2 618  -   28 156 61 747

total 1 043 773 297 717 199 416 5 807 68 812 208 655

NOTE 23
RELATED PARTIES

NOTE 24
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Parties are related if one party can influence the decisions of the 
other. If one party either controls, is controlled by or is under common 
control with the entity the two parties are related. During 2012 we 
purchased and sold goods and services to various related parties 
in which we hold a 50 per cent or less equity interest. Investments 
in associated and joint venture companies are presented in note 9, 
subsidiaries are presented in note 8 and share capital, shareholder 
information and dividend is presented in note 14.

terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The transactions between related parties are purchases and sales of 
finished goods, raw materials and technical service. Joint expenses 
are distributed in accorance with agreed cost contribution arrange-
ments. Internal trading within the Group is carried out in accordance 
with arms length principles.

For raw materials normal process for producing entities is to call 
off volums on frame agreements entered into at corporate level. 
Regularly raw materials are sold within the Group (from large to small 
entities), but the majority of raw material supplies comes directly 
from external suppliers. Sales transactions between the Group and 
joint ventures and associates are mainly related to sales of finished 
goods from producing units to non-producing units. Other situa-
tions can be levelling of stock between entities and coordination of 
deliveries to customers around the world. Prices are based on fixed 
intercompany price lists. The consolidated Group has also lendings to 
joint venture companies mainly in China and in Korea. Outstanding 
balances at the year end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash. 
There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related 
party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 December 2012, 
the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to 
amounts owed by related parties (2011:  NOK Nil). This assessment is 
undertaken each financial year through examining the financial posi-
tion of the related party and the market in which the related party 
operates. Volume of these transactions are shown in table below.

Significant events after the balance sheet date that occur before the 
Board of Directors have approved the financial statements may make 
it necessary to change the annual financial statements or to disclose 
the matter in the notes to the financial statements. If new informa-
tions emerges regarding a matter that exists on the balance sheet 
date, and the matter is significant, the financial statements must be 
changed. If events concern matters that arose after the balance sheet 
date, the matters may have to be disclosed in a note.
 

No events have taken place after the balance sheet date that would 
have affected the financial statements or any assessments carried 
out.

Beside the transactions with joint ventures and associates described 
in table above there have been very few transactions between the 
Jotun Group and other related parties during 2012. There have been 
sales of finished goods from the joint venture Jotun COSCO Marine 
Coatings Co. Ltd to its shareholders of NOK 177 million. The value 
of other transactions to related parties are of lesser amounts and 
considered to be insignificant for the Group’s consolidated financial 
statement.

compensation of key management personnel of the group 
and Board of directors compensation
Details on remuneration and shares held for the Board and Group 
Management is described in note 2 and 14. Besides remuneration 
and shares, Jotun Group has not identified any transactions with the 
Board or Group Management during 2012.

market value
Market value information is gathered from:
•	Reuters	31	December	2012	and	estimates	generated	by	the	Jotun	

Group financial system CRM. 
•	Hedging	of	raw	materials	in	Jotun	A/S:	Information	from	London	

Metal Exchange, official fixing 3M. 
•	The	valuation	are	based	on	inputs	that	are	derived	from	

observable prices and are hence categorized as a “Level 2” input 
in the fair value hierarchy.

accoUnting oF Hedging inStRUmentS
Hedging of cash flows
The Group does not apply hedge accounting for cash flow hedging. 
The realised and unrealised effects are booked as part of financial 
items, both for operational and financial cash flows.

Hedging against price risk on raw materials
The Group does not apply hedge accounting for raw material 
hedging. The realised effects are booked as part of the operational 
result. The unrealised effect are recognised in financial items.

Raw material prices
The Group has made financial price hedges for zinc and copper prices 
based on estimated demand relating to signed contracts for the sale 
of paint products. The table below shows hedging in the Jotun Group 
with an unrealised loss of NOK 0.7 million, based on agreed raw 
material prices and USD exchange rate at 31 December 2012.

Cont. NOTE 21
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

NOTE 22
LEASES

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

operating lease expenses

Machinery, vehicles and equipment 40 095 31 697

Factory, premises and buildings 19 170 17 485

Land 2 957 117

cost current year 62 223 49 299

overview of future minimum lease payments related to operating leases

Cost next year 93 196 42 433

Cost next 2-5 years 131 497 71 438

Cost after 5 years 86 160 21 183

Future minimum lease payments 310 854 135 054

Leasing commitments show the Jotun Group’s current and non-cur-
rent commitments arising from leasing contracts for property, plant 
and equipment. All leasing contracts included in this disclosure note 
are regarded as operating leases and lease amounts are presented 
as operating expenses in the income statement. Finance leases are 
capitalised. There are no capitalised financial leases per end of 2012.

Operating lease expenses included in other operating expenses are:

2012
(NOK thousand)

Hedged volume Unrealised gain/loss (-) Realised  effects 2012

Hedging of copper 53 023 69 -5 698

Hedging of zinc 31 099 676 -3 880

total 84 122 744 -9 578

2011
(NOK thousand)

Hedged volume Unrealised gain/loss (-) Realised  effects 2011

Hedging of copper 74 378 -8 367 8 600

Hedging of zinc 38 486 -5 366 -336

total 112 864 -13 733 8 264
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In 2012, Jotun completed the construction of new state-of-the-art 
factory in Sandefjord, Norway. The 13 000 square-meter facility 
includes automated in-line production systems that will improve 
efficiencies and create better working conditions.  



5555JotUn a/S – Statement oF compReHenSiVe income

STaTEmENT OF COmprEHENSivE iNCOmE

1 JanUaRy - 31 decemBeR
(NOK thousand)

Note 2012 2011

Operating revenue 1 2 727 775 2 648 495

Cost of goods sold -1 307 344 -1 273 653

Payroll expenses 2 -723 674 -662 327

Other operating expenses 4 -497 858 -487 795

Depreciation, amortisations and impairment 6,7 -69 383 -84 163

operating profit 129 516 140 557

Dividend/group contribution from subsidiaries 120 466 248 226

Dividend from joint ventures and associated companies 195 495 190 783

Finance income 4 83 792 104 840

Finance costs 4 -238 861 -136 572

profit before tax 290 408 547 834

Income tax expense 5 -78 908 -125 924

profit for the year 211 500 421 910

Proposed dividend 14 513 000 513 000

other comprehensive income

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans 3 1 262 -18 042

other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 1 262 -18 042

total comprehensive income for the year 212 762 403 869

JOTuN a/S
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STaTEmENT OF FiNaNCial pOSiTiON

(NOK thousand)
Note 31.12.12 31.12.11

aSSetS

non-current assets   

Deferred tax assets 5 47 674 77 381

Other intangible assets 6 100 645 80 243

Fixed assets 7 905 629 755 321

Investments in subsidiaries 8 1 906 793 1 595 037

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 9 254 722 254 242

Other investments 10 8 248 8 248

Pension funds 3 - 922

Other interest-bearing receivables 13 1 708 198 1 885 763

total non-current assets 4 931 909 4 657 157

current assets 

Inventories 11 342 022 387 329

Trade and other receivables 12,13 655 782 653 997

Cash and cash equivalents 201 930 141 565

total current assets 1 199 734 1 182 892

total aSSetS 6 131 643 5 840 049

eQUity and liaBilitieS  

equity  

Share capital 14 102 600 102 600

Other equity 3 402 643 3 702 881

total equity 3 505 243 3 805 481

non-current liabilities   

Pension liability 3 106 461 115 155

Provisions 16,17,18 35 467 105 976

total non-current liabilities 141 928 221 131

current liabilities 

Interest-bearing debt 15 1 300 000 700 000

Accounts payable 13,15 276 167 351 807

Income tax payable 5 15 875 104 604

Other current liabilities 13,15,16 892 430 657 026

total current liabilities 2 484 472 1 813 437

total liabilities 2 626 400 2 034 568

total eQUity and liaBilitieS 6 131 643 5 840 049

STaTEmENT OF CaSH FlOwS

(NOK thousand)
Note 2012 2011

cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax 290 408 547 834

Tax payments 5 -137 159 -85 033

Gains/losses on sale of fixed assets 7 -856 -2 129

Depreciation, amortisations and impairment 6.7 69 383 84 163

Write down shares 92 000 91 800

Gains/losses on liquidation of shares 1 755 -268

Change in inventories, trade receivables and trade creditors 114 166 -119 940

Change in accruals and other provisions 62 972 -131 089

net cash flow from operating activities 492 668 385 338

cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 7 861 3 692

Proceeds from sale of shares  - 7 833

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7 -203 192 -363 831

Purchase of intangible assets 6 -36 904 -38 673

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies -405 992 -153 821

net cash flow used in investing activities -645 227 -544 800

cash flows from financing activities

Repayment(-)/proceeds in group account system 60 990 13 327

Cash payments for new lending  64 935 -611 999

Proceeds from borrowings 600 000 700 000

Dividend paid -513 000 -256 500

net cash flow from financing activities 212 925 -155 172

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 60 365 -314 634

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 141 565 456 199

cash and cash equivalents at 31 december 201 930 141 565

The company had unused credit facilities of NOK 1 900 million at 31 December 2012 (2011: NOK 1 425 million)
There are no restrictions on the use of these cash and cash equivalents.

Sandefjord, Norway, 13 February 2013

Board of Directors

Jotun A/S

Odd Gleditsch d.y.
Chairman Richard ArnesenBirger Amundsen Nicolai A. Eger

Ingrid LuberthPaul JordahlStein Erik Hagen

Morten Fon
President & CEO

Einar Abrahamsen
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STaTEmENT OF CHaNGES iN EquiTy

Note Share capital Other equity Total

equity as at 1 January 2011 102 600 3 555 514 3 658 114

14 Dividends -256 500 -256 500

Profit of the period 421 910 421 910

Other comprehensive income -18 042 -18 042

equity as at 31 december 2011 102 600 3 702 881 3 805 481

14 Dividends -513 000 -513 000

Profit for the period 211 500 211 500

Other comprehensive income 1 262 1 262

equity as at 31 december 2012 102 600 3 402 643 3 505 243

aCCOuNTiNG pOliCiES

The financial statements for Jotun A/S have been prepared in 
accordance with simplified IFRS pursuant to section 3-9 of the 
Norwegian Accounting Act. This mainly implies that the financial 
statements are presented in accordance with IFRS and the notes are 
presented in accordance with the requirements of the Norwegian 

Accounting Act. The accounting policies for the Group therefore also 
apply to Jotun A/S. Shares in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities 
and associated companies are incorporated using the cost method of 
accounting.

NOTE 1 
OPERATING REVENUES

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Sales revenues 1 531 087 1 410 879

Sales revenues from subsidiaries 748 240 754 969

Other revenues 114 292 135 539

Other revenues from subsidiaries 334 156 347 108

total 2 727 775 2 648 495

Other revenues include rental income, licence revenues, compensations and profit on sale of fixed assets.

The President & CEO is part of a pension scheme that includes employees 
in the company’s top management. The retirement age is 67 years, with 
mutual opportunity to discontinue employment in whole or in part up to 
five years earlier (see note 3).

Further the President & CEO is also part of a profit-dependent bonus 
system for the group management limited upward to 50 per cent of 
agreed annual wage. Should his employment discontinue, the President 
& CEO has a clause in his contract stipulating that one-year “competition 

quarantine” may be imposed with compensation. Beyond this, Jotun has 
no obligation to give the President & CEO or the Chairman of the Board 
special remuneration upon discontinuance or change of the employment 
or office.

Jotun has given no loans or guarantees to the President & CEO or the 
Chairman of the Board. Nor has the company given loans or guarantees to 
shareholders or members of the Board and Corporate Assembly.

NOTE 2
PAYROLL ExPENSES

wageS and otHeR Social coStS 

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Wages including bonuses 574 634 529 338

Social costs 81 081 78 655

Pension costs defined benefit plans 18 215 10 920

Pension costs defined contribution plans 43 279 35 871

Other personell costs 6 465 7 543

total salaries and personell expenses 723 674 662 327

Average number of employees 847 851

For detailed information about pension costs, see note 3.

RemUneRation to pReSident & ceo

(NOK thousand) Ordinary compensation Bonus Benefits in kind Pension cost Total

Morten Fon 3 778 354 196 772 5 100

RemUneRation to tHe BoaRd oF diRectoRS and 
coRpoRate aSSemBly

(NOK thousand)

Board of Directors  2 370 

Corporate Assembly  181 

total 2 551

Shares owned by Board of Directors and Group Management are specified in note 14

exteRnal aUditoR RemUneRation

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Statutory audit 1 609 1 560

Tax services 1 196 979

Other services 513 374

total 3 318 2 913
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note 3
Pensions and other long-term employee benefits

cont. note 3
Pensions and other long-term employee benefits

The company has both defined contribution and defined benefit 
pension plans. In the defined contribution plans, the cost is equal to 
the contributions to the employees’ pension savings in the accounting 
period. The future pension will be determined by the amount of the 
contributions and the return on the pension savings. In the defined 
benefit plan, the company is responsible for paying an agreed pension 
to the employee based on his or her pensionable salary. The cost for the 
accounting periods shows the employees’ pension entitlement of the 
agreed future pensions in the accounting year.

defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans comprise arrangements whereby the 
company makes annual contributions to the employees’ pension plans, 
and where the future pension is determined by the accounts of the 
contributions and the return on the pension plan assets. 

Employees in Jotun A/S are mainly covered by pension plans that 
are classified as contribution plans. Costs associated with defined 
contribution plans are specified in note 2 Payroll expenses.

defined benefit plans
The company has pension plans that are classified as funded benefit 
plans and unfunded benefit plans, recognised in the statement of 
financial position. 

The schemes define a pension benefit of up to 60 per cent of final 
salary at retirement, limited up to twelve times the social security basic 
amount (G). As of 31 December the basis amount (1G) is NOK 82 122. 
The pension liability of the company is linked to changes in Norwegian 
social security benefits. Other schemes with net pension obligations 
include the contractual-pension scheme (AFP) and end financing of 
old AFP scheme(early retirement). In addition comes unfunded pension 
obligations related to old-age pensions, early retirement for Jotun’s 
senior executives and book liabilities related to contribution-based plans 
for employees who earn more than twelve times the social security basic 
amount (G).

Settlement
During 2012 the company has changed the pension policy related to the 
defined benefit plan for its employees and pensioners. All categories of 
pensioners were transferred to individual policies per 1 June 2012. All 
active employees having reached the age of 67 after 1 June 2012 have 
also been transferred to individual insurance policies. The transaction 
eliminates all future legal or constructive obligations for the benefits 
provided under the defined benefit plan, and the define benefit plan is 
considered as settled.

The settlement had the following effect on income statement and the 
pension liabilities and assets:

other severance schemes
Included in this scheme are Jotun’s operating pension schemes in the 
Norwegian companies regarding a pension base exceeding 12 times the 
basic amount (G).

assumptions relating to the defined benefit plans
For the company, the market yields on government bonds are used, 
adjusted for actual lifetime of the pension liabilities. As a rule, 
parameters such as wage growth, growth in G and inflation are set 
in accordance with the recommendations in Norway. The mortality 
estimate is based on an up-to-date mortality table (K2005).

accounting of actuarial losses and gains
All actuarial losses and gains related to pensions are presented under 
other comprehensive income in the income statement.

pension plan assets
Pension plan assets are mainly in bonds and shares. The estimated return 
will vary depending on the composition of the various class of assets. 
The actual return and breakdown of pension plan assets may be seen 
in the notes below. Contributions to pension plan assets during 2013 is 
expected to be approximately NOK 3 million. 

The number of active and pensioners in the various schemes is shown in 
the table below.

(NOK thousand)

2012 2011

Schemes with 
net pension 

funds

Schemes with 
net pension
obligations

Schemes with 
net pension 

funds

Schemes with 
net pension
obligations

cHangeS in penSion oBligationS inclUding Social SecURity          

Pension obligation at the beginning of the period 288 442 99 266 279 787 101 130

Pension earning for the year 1 454 9 172 1 024 11 538

Interest cost on pension obligations 1 366 2 254 10 143 3 777

Settlement  -232 759  -    -    -   

Transfer to/from schemes with net pension liabilities  -46 206 46 206  -    -   

Actuarial loss/(gain) -724 -6 649 17 728 403

Social security upon paying pension funds -1 173 -674 -940 -609

Pension payments -10 400 -16 394 -19 300 -16 973

pension obligation at the end of the period *  -   133 181 288 442 99 266

cHangeS in plan aSSetS

Plan assets at the beginning of the period 289 365 1 239 293 442 1 238

Expected return on plan assets 807 63 15 505 57

Settlement -237 598  -    -    -   

Transfer to/from schemes with net pension liabilities -44 828 44 828  -    -   

Actuarial (loss) / gain -5 671 51 -6 947 20

Payments in / (out) 8 325 5 140 6 665 4 673

Pension payments -10 400 -4 530 -19 300 -4 749

plan assets at the end of the period  -   46 791 289 365 1 239

Reconciliation of pension liabilities/assets recognized in the balance sheet

Net pension obligation - overdunded (underfunded)  -   -86 390 923 -98 028

total pension assets (liabilities)  -   -86 390 923 -98 028

tHe peRiod'S penSion coStS inclUding Social SecURity

Pension earnings for the year 1 454 9 172 1 024 11 538

Interest cost for the pension obligations 1 366 2 254 10 143 3 777

Expected return on plan assets -807 -63 -15 505 -57

Curtailments and settlements (AFP)  4 839  -    -    -   

pension cost recognised in the profit and loss account 6 852 11 363  -4 338  15 258 
   

actuarial loss/(gain) recognised in other comprehensive income (net of taxes) 3 562 -4 824 17 766 276

penSion oBligationS in tHe Balance SHeet

Benefit schemes and other unsecured schemes  -   -86 390 923 -98 028

Other severance schemes  -   -20 071  - -17 128

plan assets (liabilities) recognised in the balance sheet  -   -106 461 923 -115 156

* - including unsecured schemes

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Schemes with net pension funds

Defined benefit scheme - active 38 61

Defined benefit scheme - pensioners 7 604

Schemes with net pension obligations

Old-age pensioners in unfunded schemes  12  12 

Early-retirement-pension agreements - agreed and implemented  61  42 

Senior-executive schemes - active  7  7 

Senior-executive schemes - pensioners  3  4 

Contractual pension (AFP) - pensioners  39  51 

Benefit scheme financed over operations  2  6 

Reduction of pension obligation  232 759 

Reduction of plan assets  237 598 

net recognised in income statement  4 839 

BReakdown oF penSion plan aSSetS (FaiR ValUe) 
aS oF 31 decemBeR

2012 2011

Cash and cash equivalents in % 1 1

Bonds in % 66 47

Shares in % 18 35

Property in % 15 17

total pension plan assets in % 100 100

actUaRial aSSUmptionS

2012 2011

Discount rate in % 2.20 2.60

Expected return in % 3.60 4.10

Wage adjustment in % 3.00-3.25 3.25-3.50

Inflation / increase in social security basic 
amount (G), in %

3.00 3.25

Pension adjustment in % 0.50-3.25 0.50-3.50
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NOTE 4
OTHER OPERATING ExPENSES AND FINANCE INCOME/COSTS

NOTE 5
INCOME TAx

Cont. NOTE 5
INCOME TAx

Jotun A/S presents its income statement based on nature of the item of 
income and expense. “Other operating expenses” comprise all operating 
expenses that are not related to cost of goods sold, employee payrolls 
and capital cost in the form of depreciation. The main items of other 
operating expenses have been grouped in the table above.

The item “Research and development” consists of cost from projects in a 
research phase and development costs related to cancelled projects.

The item “Other” mainly consist of technical service cost, royalty and 
warranty cost.

otHeR opeRating expenSeS

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Manufacturing costs 72 039 74 723

Warehouse costs 28 794 18 986

Transport costs 46 019 50 591

Sales costs 118 826 131 090

Research and development 117 775 75 164

General and administrative 54 345 91 449

Other 60 060 45 792

total 497 858 487 795

Finance income 

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Interest income 6 435 1 518

Interest income on loan to an associate 68 859 58 190

Net foreign exchange gain  -   37 373

Other financial income 8 498 7 759

total finance income 83 792 104 840

Finance coStS

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Interest costs 44 618 12 142

Net foreign exchange loss 98 991  -   

Write down of financial fixed assets 92 000 91 800

Other financial costs 3 252 32 630

total finance costs 238 861 136 572

income Statement

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

income tax related to income 
statement

Tax payable 41 575 143 197

Changes in deferred tax 37 333 -17 273

income tax expense reported in the 
income statement

78 908 125 924

Statement oF otHeR compReHenSiVe income

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

deferred tax related to items charged 
directly to other comprehensive 
income during the year

Actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit 
pension plans

-491 7 016

income tax expenses charged directly 
to other comprehensive income

-491 7 016

Reconciliation oF tHe eFFectiVe Rate oF tax and tHe tax 
Rate in JotUn a/S’ coUntRy oF RegiStRation

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

profit before tax 290 408 547 834

Expected income taxes according to 
income tax rate in Norway (28 per cent)

81 314 153 394

Taxes on dividends -53 894 -90 012

Correction previous year -10 047  -   

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes 49 825 45 613

Tax rate outside Norway other than 
28 per cent

11 710 16 929

total income tax expense 78 908 125 924

Effective tax rate 27 % 23 %

tax payaBle pReSented in tHe Statement oF Financial 
poSition

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

Tax payable for the year 40 623 132 265

Due tax previous years 21 475 22 647

Effect of group contribution 8 118  -   

Withholding taxes receivable -44 070 -41 878

Foreign tax receivable -10 271 -8 430

total tax payable (ref. note 15) 15 875 104 604

SpeciFication oF deFeRRed tax
Deferred tax liability consists of tax liabilities that are payable in the future.
The table below lists the timing differences between tax accounting and financial accounting.

tempoRaRy diFFeRenceS 
(NOK thousand)

2012 2011

Non-current assets 29 980 -42 686

Current assets 6 532 17 751

Liabilities -172 799 -253 767

Group contribution* -28 991  -   

Other -4 986 2 343

net temporary differences -170 264 -276 359

Deferred tax asset recognised in the statement of financial position 47 674 77 381

* The net tax effect of group contribution received from subsidiaries is recognised as a reduction in tax payable and deferred tax asset.

(NOK thousand)
Technology Goodwill

Other 
intangibles

Development 
cost

Total

cost

Balance at 1 January 2011 96 495 7 175 92 872 27 450 223 992

Additions - internal development  -    -   10 296 28 377 38 673

Disposals  -    -   -5 982 -464 -6 446

Balance at 31 december 2011 96 495 7 175 97 186 55 363 256 219

Additions - internal development  -    -    12 796 24 108 36 904

Disposals  -    -    -   -8 145 -8 145

Balance at 31 december 2012 96 495 7 175 109 982 71 326 284 978

amortisation/impairment

Balance at 1 January 2011 -96 495 -7 175 -54 037 -2 936 -160 643

Amortisation  -    -   -11 049 -4 470 -15 519

Disposals  -    -   93 93 186

Balance at 31 december 2011 -96 495 -7 175 -64 993 -7 313 -175 976

Amortisation  -    -   -11 322 -3 149 -14 471

Disposals  -    -    -    6 114 6 114

Balance at 31 december 2012 -96 495 -7 175 -76 315 -4 348 -184 333

net book value

Balance at 31 december 2012  -    -   33 667 66 978 100 645

Balance at 31 December 2011  -    -   32 193 48 050 80 243

See Group’s note 6 for further information.

NOTE 6
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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SHaReS Held diRectly By tHe paRent company
(NOK thousand)

Company City Country Currency
Share 
capital No. of shares Face value

Book value 
NOK Stake %

Jotun India Private Ltd. Mumbai India INR 2 777 790 136 181 666 2 777 790 331 852 100.00

Jotun Brasil Imp. Exp & Industria de 
Tintas Ltda.

Rio de Janeiro Brazil BRL 39 161 12 163 200 39 161 141 494 100.00

Jotun (Malaysia) Sdn.Bhd. Kuala Lumpur Malaysia MYR 48 000 48 000 000 48 000 114 333 100.00

Jotun Powder Coatings AS Sandefjord Norway NOK 87 000 87 000 87 000 109 320 100.00

Jotun Paints OOO St. Petersburg Russia RUB 506 555 17 000 506 555 94 720 100.00

Jotun Paints (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Kuala Lumpur Malaysia MYR 50 000 15 000 000 50 000 92 863 100.00

El-Mohandes Jotun S.A.E. Cairo Egypt EGP 20 000 2 000 000 14 000 91 945 70.00

P.T. Jotun Indonesia Jakarta Indonesia IDR 104 223 850 172 000 103 285 835 87 401 99.14

Jotun Paints (Europe) Ltd. Flixborough UK GBP 7 500 7 500 000 7 500 86 408 100.00

Jotun Paints (H.K.) Ltd. Hong Kong China CNY 116 797 110 334 615 116 797 85 320 100.00 

Scanox AS Drammen Norway NOK 4 000 20 000 4 000 80 280 100.00 

Jotun Paints Inc. New Orleans US USD 44 600 100 44 600 58 094 100.00 

Jotun Iberica S.A. Barcelona Spain EUR 9 103 86 845 9 103 50 000 100.00 

Jotun B.V. Spijkenisse Netherlands EUR 1 316 29 001 1 316 49 175 100.00 

Jotun Paints Co. L.L.C. Muscat Oman OMR 250 25 000 155 45 146 62.00 

Jotun Australia Pty. Ltd. Melbourne Australia AUD 11 550 16 050 001 11 550 45 027 100.00 

Jotun Thailand Ltd. Bangkok Thailand THB 84 000 84 000 80 186 44 285 95.46

Jotun Paints South Africa (Pty) Ltd. Cape Town South Africa ZAR 55 719 110 55 719 41 784 100.00 

Jotun Paints (Vietnam) Co. Ltd. Ho Chi Minh City Vietnam USD 8 833 - 8 833 41 725 100.00 

Jotun Boya  San. ve Ticaret A.S. Istanbul Turkey TRY 25 279 30 000 000 17 738 32 556 70.17

Jotun Italia S.p.A. Trieste Italy EUR 2 632 509 099 2 632 29 925 100.00 

Jotun (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore SGD 6 000 6 000 000 6 000 28 040 100.00 

Jotun Libya J.S.Co. Tripoli Libya LYD 7 184 65 000 5 747 27 854 80.00 

Jotun Polska Sp.zo.o. Gdynia Poland PLN 8 900 15 000 8 900 17 591 100.00 

Jotun (Deutschland) GmbH. Hamburg Germany EUR 614 1 200 512 12 090 83.33

Jotun Pakistan (Private) Ltd. Karachi Pakistan PKR 146 124 2 761 349 146 124 11 104 100.00 

Jotun Cyprus Ltd. Limassol Cyprus USD 1 313 1 000 1 313 7 675 100.00 

Jotun (Philippines) Inc Manila Phillippines PHP 52 464 15 463 695 52 464 7 231 100.00 

Jotun F.Z.E. Dubai U.A.E. AED 4 000 4 4 000 6 637 100.00 

Jotun Maroc SARL AU Casablanca Morocco MAD 8 472 20 000 8 472 5 937 100.00 

Jotun Ireland Ltd. Cork Ireland EUR 640 487 409 640 5 500 100.00 

Jotun Sverige AB Gothenburg Sweden SEK 4 000 80 000 4 000 4 550 100.00 

Jotun Algerie SARL Algiers Algerie DZD 73 000 7 300 51 100 3 881 70.00 

Jotun Hellas Ltd. Glyfada Greece EUR 343 11 435 334 2 937 97.40

Jotun Danmark A/S Kolding Denmark DKK 3 300 6 600 3 300 2 698 100.00 

Jotun Bangladesh Ltd. Dhaka Bangladesh USD 400 999 999 400 2 268 100.00 

Jotun France S.A. Paris France EUR 320 16 000 320 2 108 100.00 

Jotun Insurance Cell St. Peterport Guernsey GBP 121 1 121 1 350 100.00 

Jotun (Cambodia) Ltd. Phnom Penh Cambodia KHR 797 029 1 000 797 029 1 166 100.00 

Jotun Kazakhstan L.L.P. Almaty Kazakhstan KZT 29 350 1 29 350 1 098 100.00 

Jotun Romania S.R.L. Constanta Romania RON 640 64 000 640 1 084 100.00 

Lady Interiørmaling AS Sandefjord Norway NOK 120 1 000 120 120 100.00 

Jotun Optimal Utendørsmaling AS Sandefjord Norway NOK 111 500 111 111 100.00 

Drygolin Værbestandig Oljemaling AS Sandefjord Norway NOK 109 500 109 109 100.00 

total 1 906 793

The voting interest corresponds to the share interest. 
Jotun Brasil Imp. Exp & Industria de Tintas Ltda. is written down with NOK 92 million.

NOTE 8
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

(NOK thousand)

Land Buildings
Electrical 

installation

Machinery, 
vehicles and 
equipment

Construction 
in progress

Total

cost

Balance at 1 January 2011 14 469 473 470  -   616 619 180 710 1 285 268

Additions at cost  -   832  -   39 124 323 907 363 863

Disposals  -    -    -   -11 132  -   -11 132

Reclassification and corrections  -   -2 962 2 962  -    -    -   

Balance at 31 december 2011 14 469 471 340 2 962 644 611 504 617 1 637 999

Additions at cost  -   6 074 288 65 865  130 965 203 192

Disposals  -    -    -   -2 340  -   -2 340

Reclassification and corrections  -   164 482 70 583 311 315 -546 380  -   

Balance at 31 december 2012 14 469 641 896 73 833 1 019 451 89 202 1 838 851

depreciation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2011  -   -323 312  -   -506 550  -   -829 862

Depreciation  -   -14 049  -   -48 335  -   -62 384

Disposals  -    -    -   9 569  -   9 569

Reclassification and corrections  -   123 -123  -    -    -   

Balance at 31 december 2011 - -337 238 -123 -545 316 - -882 677

Depreciation  -   -15 563 -3 832 -33 485  -   -52 880

Disposals  -    -    -   2 335  -   2 335

Balance at 31 december 2012 - -352 801 -3 955 -576 466 - -933 222

net book value

Balance at 31 december 2012 14 469 289 095 69 878 442 985 89 202 905 629

Balance at 31 December 2011 14 469 134 102 2 839 99 295 504 617 755 321

construction in progress
The reclassification of construction in progress is related to the new Vindal factory in Sandefjord, Norway.

NOTE 7
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT
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NOTE 10
FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

SHaReS Held By SUBSidiaRieS and aSSociated companieS
(NOK thousand)

Company City Country Currency Share capital No. of shares Face value Stake %

Jotun powder coatings aS

Jotun Powder Coatings (N) AS Larvik Norway NOK 12 500 125 000 12 500 100.00

Jotun Boya San. ve Ticaret A.S. Istanbul Turkey TRY 25 279 12 752 770 75 831 29.83

Jotun Powder Coatings (Thailand) Ltd. Bangkok Thailand THB 9 000 9 000 9 000 100.00

Jotun Powder Coatings (CZ) a.s. Usti nad Labem Czech Republic CZK 128 000 12 800 128 000 100.00

Jotun Powder Coatings (M) Sdn. Bhd. Kuala Lumpur Malaysia MYR 1 950 2 329 234 1 950 100.00

PT Jotun Powder Coatings Indonesia Jakarta Indonesia IDR 30 343 803 121 000 30 343 803 100.00

Jotun Powder Coatings Pakistan (Pvt.) Ltd. Lahore Pakistan PKR 199 990 18 798 998 187 991 94.00

Jotun Powder Coatings (India) Private Ltd. Mumbai India INR 68 600 6 860 000 68 600 100.00

Jotun Powder Coatings Ltd. Flixborough UK GBP 400 1 000 000 400 100.00

Jotun Bulgaria EOOD Sofia Bulgaria EUR 3   -   3 100.00

Jotun Powder Coatings L.L.L. Cairo Egypt EGP 5 300 5 90.00

Jotun paints (H.k.) ltd.

Jotun Coatings (Zhangjiagang) Co. Ltd. Zhangjiagang China CNY 217 858 - 217 858 100.00

Jotun paints inc.

PRS Delaware L.L.C. New Orleans US USD 1 000 100 1 000 100.00

Jotun B.V.

Jotun (Deutschland) Gmbh Hamburg Germany EUR 614 1 200 102 16.67

Jotun Hellas Ltd. Glyfada Greece EUR 343 300 9 2.60

Scanox aS

Butinox Futura Beis og Maling AS Drammen Norway NOK 100 500 100 100.00

Jotun powder coatings (n) aS

Jotun Powder Coatings L.L.L. Cairo Egypt EGP 5 300 5 10.00

Jotun Singapore pte ltd.

P.T Jotun Indonesia Jakarta Indonesia IDR 104 223 850 - 938 015 0.86

The voting interest corresponds to the share interest.

SHaReS Held By SUBSidiaRieS and aSSociated companieS
(NOK thousand)

Company City Country Currency Share capital No. of shares Face value Stake %

Jotun coSco marine coatings (H.k.) ltd.

Jotun COSCO Marine Coatings (Guangzhou) Co. Ltd. Guangzhou China CNY 72 957 - 72 957 100.00

Jotun COSCO Marine Coatings (quingdao) Co. Ltd. qingdao China CNY 250 973 - 250 973 100.00

Jotun powder coatings aS

Jotun Powder Coatings U.A.E. Ltd. (L.L.C.) Dubai U.A.E. AED 3 000 3 000 1 410 47.00

Jotun Powder Coatings U.A.E. Ltd. (L.L.C.)

Jotun Powder Coatings Saudi Arabia Co. Ltd. Dammam Saudi Arabia SAR 7 320 73 200 2 928 40.00

Jotun Uae ltd (l.l.c.)

Jotun Abu Dhabi Ltd. (L.L.C.) Abu Dhabi U.A.E. AED 4 000 4 000 1 600 40.00

Jotun paints co. l.l.c.

Jotun Yemen Paints Ltd. Aden Yemen YER 562 207 20 000 105 133 22.00

Jotun Saudia co. ltd.

Jotun Yemen Paints Ltd. Aden Yemen YER 562 207 20 000 95 575 17.00

The voting interest corresponds to the share interest.
For extended information regarding joint ventures and associated companies see Group’s note 8.

(NOK thousand) 

Company City Country Currency Share capital No. of shares Face value Book value NOK Stake %

Nor-Maali OY Lahti Finland EUR 8 10 000 3 8 180 33.40

Other companies 69

total 8 248

NOTE 11
INVENTORIES

NOTE 12
RECEIVABLES

(NOK thousand) 31.12.12 31.12.11

Raw materials at cost 120 313 109 518

Finished goods at cost 234 420 286 324

Provision for obsolescence -12 710 -8 513

total 342 022 387 329

(NOK thousand)  31.12.12  31.12.11

Accounts receivable external 59 136 69 031

Accounts receivable group companies 230 248 321 064

Other receivables external 54 155 82 742

Other receivables group companies 312 242 181 160

total receivables 655 782 653 997

(NOK thousand)  31.12.12  31.12.11

Allowances for bad debt as of 1 January  -  - 

Allowances for bad debt made during the 
period

447 37

Realized losses for the year -312 -37

total allowances for bad debt as of 
31 december

135  - 

Inventories are valued at the lowest value of purchase price, material 
cost and net realiasable value. Cost of inventories are assigned by using 
weighted average cost formula.

Allowances for credit losses have been evaluated upon individual basis 
on the accounts receivables and other receivables. 

Changes in allowances for bad debt is shown in following table:

Credit risk and foreign exchange risk regarding accounts receivable is discussed in note 19.
Aging of accounts receivable external as of 31 December was as follows:

(NOK thousand)
Total Not due

Overdue

Less than 30 days 30-60 days 60-90 days More than 90 days

2012*  59 271  42 841  13 861  420  767  1 382 

2011*  69 031  51 504  13 286  856  2 478  907 

* Does not include provision for bad debt.

Cont. NOTE 8
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

SHaReS Held diRectly By tHe paRent company
(NOK thousand)

Company City Country Currency Share capital No. of shares Face value
Book val-
ue NOK Stake %

Jotun U.A.E. Ltd. (L.L.C.) Dubai U.A.E. AED 4 000 2 000 1 660 108 929 41.50

Jotun COSCO Marine Coatings (H.K.) Ltd. Hong Kong China HKD 279 150 2 000 139 575 34 231 50.00

Chokwang Jotun Ltd. Kyungnam South Korea KRW 11 140 000 557 000 5 570 000 31 953 50.00

Jotun Abu Dhabi Ltd. (L.L.C.) Abu Dhabi U.A.E. AED 4 000 4 000 1 400 28 061 35.00

Red Sea Paints Co. Ltd. Jeddah Saudi Arabia SAR 9 500 9 500 3 800 21 995 40.00

Jotun Saudia Co. Ltd. Dammam Saudi Arabia SAR 9 000 9 000 3 600 17 278 40.00

Jotun Powder Coatings Saudi Arabia Co. Ltd. Dammam Saudi Arabia SAR 7 320 73 200 2 196 11 385 30.00

Jotun Yemen Paints Ltd. Aden Yemen YER 562 207 20 000 78 709 710 14.00

Shares held by Jotun A/S for third parties -301

total 254 242

NOTE 9
SHARES IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Cont. NOTE 9
SHARES IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
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note 14
SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

cont. note 14
SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

(NOK thousand) Quantity Face value Balance sheet

A-Shares 114 000 300 34 200

B-Shares 228 000 300 68 400

total 342 000 300 102 600

owneRSHip StRUctURe

The number of shareholders as of 31 December 2012 was 631. The largest shareholders were:

Shareholders A-shares B-shares Total Ownershare in % Voting interest in %

Lilleborg AS 42 000 103 446 145 446 42.5 38.3

Odd Gleditsch A/S 11 419 36 990 48 409 14.2 11.1

Mattisberget AS 25 053 386 25 439 7.4 18.3

Leo Invest AS 2 988 7 512 10 500 3.1 2.7

Abrafam Holding AS * 3 368 3 815 7 183 2.1 2.7

BOG Invest AS * 6 850 6 850 2.0 0.5

ACG AS * 5 548 5 548 1.6 0.4

Elanel AS 3 011 2 353 5 364 1.6 2.4

HEJO Holding AS * 5 240 5 240 1.5 0.4

Bjørn Ekdahl 1 872 3 281 5 153 1.5 1.6

Odd Gleditsch Jr. 4 681 43 4 724 1.4 3.4

Live Invest AS 4 056 567 4 623 1.4 3.0

Kofreni AS * 131 4 114 4 245 1.2 0.4

Bjørn Ole Gleditsch 26 3 679 3 705 1.1 0.3

Pina AS 3 443 3 443 1.0 0.3

Conrad Wilhelm Eger 1 172 2 155 3 327 1.0 1.0

Jill Beate Gleditsch 3 172 3 172 0.9 0.2

Anne Cecilie Gleditsch 5 3 161 3 166 0.9 0.2

Fredrikke Eger 1 000 2 084 3 084 0.9 0.9

Britt Fanny Arnesen 1 855 1 178 3 033 0.9 1.4

total 20 largest 102 637 199 017 301 654 88.2 89.6

total others  11 363  28 983 40 346 11.8 10.4

total number of shares 114 000 228 000 342 000 100.0 100.0

The share capital in Jotun A/S as of 31 December 2012 consist of the following share classes:

At the general meeting, each A-share has ten and each B-share has one vote. There are no changes from last year.

SHaReS owned By memBeRS oF tHe BoaRd oF diRectoRS, coRpoRate aSSemBly, pReSident & ceo and/oR 
Related paRtieS:

Name Office A-shares B-shares Total shares

Odd Gleditsch d.y. Chairman of the Board 27 8 222 8 249

Einar Abrahamsen Member of the Board 3 368 3 817 7 185

Richard Arnesen Member of the Board 1 855 3 129 4 984

Nicolai A. Eger Member of the Board 1 110 5 203 6 313

Birger Amundsen Member of the Board 2 2

Olav Christensen Chairman of the corporate assembly 3 011 2 365 5 376

Bjørn Ole Gleditsch Member of the corporate assembly 26 10 529 10 555

Anne Cecilie Gleditsch Member of the corporate assembly 5 8 710 8 715

Kornelia Eger Member of the corporate assembly 100 271 371

Richard Arnesen jr. Member of the corporate assembly 7 10 17

Terje V. Arnesen Member of the corporate assembly 1 1

Morten Fon CEO 8 18 26

Bård K. Tonning Head of Jotun Dekorativ 3 3

Erik R. Aaberg Head of Jotun Paints 15 15

Esben Hersve Head of Jotun Coatings 4 4

There are no options for share acquisitions.

*The Majority of the shares in following companies are owned by:
HEJO Holding AS owned by Odd Gleditsch d.y.
Abrafam Holding AS  partly owned by Einar Abrahamsen
Kofreni AS partly owned by Nicolai A. Eger
BOG Invest AS owned by Bjørn Ole Gleditsch
ACG AS owned by Anne Cecilie Gleditsch

cURRent liaBilitieS Carrying amount

(NOK thousand)  31.12.12  31.12.11

Interest-bearing debt 1 300 000 700 000

Accounts payable external 202 599 259 099

Liabilities to subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies 703 000 543 916

Public charges and holiday pay 110 383 103 895

Tax payable, ref. note 5 15 875 104 604

Other accrued expenses 98 863 83 422

Total current provisions, ref. note 16 53 752 18 501

total current liabilities 2 484 472 1 813 437

note 15
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other accrued expenses are related to bonuses to employees, royalty, interests and other accrued expenses.

Interest-bearing debt consists of certificate loans of NOK 1 200 million and bank loan of NOK 100 million. Jotun A/S are utilising NOK 100 million of 
the Group’s credit line facility. The loan covenants in the facility are described in Group’s note 15 and 21.

(NOK thousand) Subsidiaries Joint ventures / associated companies

31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12 31.12.11

non-current assets

Other interest-bearing receivables 1 611 143 1 766 577 94 590 116 722

total non-current assets 1 611 143 1 766 577 94 590 116 722

current assets

Trade receivables 194 005 263 077 36 242 57 987

Other current receivables 276 355 180 591 35 887 569

total current assets 470 360 443 668 72 129 58 556

total assets 2 081 503 2 210 245 166 719 175 278

current liabilities

Trade creditors 57 194 63 982 16 374 28 727

Other short term liabilities 507 239 352 946 122 194 98 261

total liabilities 564 433 416 928 138 568 126 988

NOTE 13
INTER-COMPANY BALANCES WITH SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

diVidend paid and pRopoSed

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

declared and paid during the year

Dividend on ordinary shares:

Final dividend 2011: NOK 1 500 per share (2010: NOK 750 per share) 513 000 256 500

proposed for approval at the annual general meeting

Dividend on ordinary shares:

Final dividend 2012: NOK 1 500 per share (2011: 1 500 NOK per share) 513 000 513 000
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pRoViSionS 2012

(NOK thousand) Claims Restructuring Environmental Other Total

Total provisions 1 January 2012  18 501 45 974 60 000  -   124 475

Provisions arising during the year  3 300  - -  -   3 300

Utilised -9 221 -13 007 -500  -   -22 728

Unused amounts reversed -1 013 -10 315 -4 500  -   -15 828

total provisions 31 december 2012 11 567 22 652 55 000  -   89 219

Current, ref. note 15 1 100 22 652 30 000  -   53 752

Non-current 10 467  -   25 000  -   35 467

total 11 567 22 652 55 000  -   89 219

pRoViSionS 2011

(NOK thousand) Claims Restructuring Environmental Other Total

Total provisions 1 January 2011  -   49 769 33 500 8 501 91 770

Provisions arising during the year  -    - 26 500 - 26 500

Utilised  -   -545 - -8 501 -9 046

Unused amounts reversed  -   -3 249 - - -3 249

total provisions 31 december 2011  -   45 975 60 000  -   105 975

Current, ref. note 15 18 501  -    -    -   18 501

Non-current  -   45 974 60 000  -   105 974

total 18 501 45 974 60 000  -   124 475

Jotun A/S has the following contractual obligations for the purchases:

contRactUal pURcHaSe oBligationS 
- inVeStmentS peR 2012

(NOK thousand) Future payments

New plant at Vindal, Sandefjord 5 000

 total 5 000

otHeR oBligationS not accoUnted FoR

(NOK thousand) Guarantees

Guarantees for tax withholding 42 000

Letter of Comfort (on behalf of subsidiaries) 1 105 055

Guarantees for subsidiaries 44 342

Sureties for customers etc. and guarantees for Jotun A/S 9 100

 total 1 200 497

NOTE 16
PROVISIONS

NOTE 17
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

NOTE 19
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

NOTE 18
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND GUARANTEES

claims          
A provision is recognised for expected warranty claims on products 
sold, based on past experience of the level of repairs and returns. 
It is expected that most of these costs will be incurred in the next 
financial year (see note 15) and all will have been incurred within 
two years after the reporting date. Assumptions used to calculate 
the provision for claims were based on current information available 
about claim cases and the expected claims based on the warranty 
period for specific products sold.

Restructuring provisions
Long-term provisions for restructuring are related to close-down of 
plants in Norway. For all restructuring provisions detailed plans have 
been made and implemented. In accordance with the restructuring 
plans most of the costs will incur in 2013.

environmental provisions
Jotun A/S has recorded provisions for environmental liabilities at 
some currently owned sites. Pre-studies and analysis of relevant areas 
have been undertaken to reliably estimate the provisions that have 
been  recognised. The clean-up activities will intentionally start in 
2013-2015 and continue until 2018. These provisions are estimates 
of amounts payable or expected to become payable.

disputes and claims 
Jotun A/S is, through its ongoing business operations, involved in 
disputes and claims cases in connection with the company’s oper-
ational activities. Provisions have been made to cover the expected 
outcome of disputes insofar as negative outcomes are probable and 
reliable estimates can be made. In evaluating the size of the provi-
sions expected insurance cover is taken into account separately. Jotun 
acknowledges the uncertainty of the disputes, but believes that these 
cases will be resolved without significant impact on the company’s 
financial position. There are no significant disputes or claims with the 
uncertainty of probability or reliable estimate accounted for in the 
balance sheet.

environmental matters
A number of factories have been inspected regarding environmental 
conditions in the ground. Actions have either been taken on own 
initiative or implemented on the order of local authorities. Inspections 
and measurements are made by independent specialist in the field. 
For clean-up projects where implementation is considered to be 
probable and for which reliable estimates have been done provi-
sions are made accordingly (ref. note 16). The future expenditures for 
remediation work depends on a number of uncertain factors, such 
as the extent and type of remediation required. Environmental laws 
and regulations may change, and such changes may require Jotun 
to make investments and/or increase costs. Due to uncertainties 
inherent in the estimation process, it is possible that such estimates 
could be revised in the near term.

oRganiSation oF Financial RiSk management 
Jotun operates internationally and is exposed to financial risks like 
currency risk, interest rate risk, commodity price risk, liquidity risk and 
credit risk. Jotun A/S uses financial instruments to reduce these risks 
in accordance with the Group’s Treasury policy.

categoRieS oF Financial RiSkS and RiSk policieS 
FoR JotUn a/S

Foreign currency risk on net investments
As NOK is the functional currency for Jotun A/S and the presenta-
tion currency, Jotun A/S is exposed to currency translation risk for net 
investments in foreign operations. Jotun’s policy is not to hedge this 
exposure.

Foreign currency risk on operational cash flows
Jotun A/S has inflows and outflows of foreign currency related to 
product sales and raw material purchases. The currency risk arises 
when the movements in currency rates can not immediately be 
passed on to the product prices. This creates an impact on the opera-
tional result. Jotun A/S has a policy to hedge against this effect when 
the effect is significant.

Foreign currency risk on financial cash flows
Foreign currency financial cash flows such as dividend payments, 
royalty payments, interest payments, instalments and issuing of loans 
and equity, gives a currency exposure. The policy is to hedge this 
exposure.

interest rate risk
Jotun A/S has low net interest bearing debt with the seasonal peaks 
within one billion NOK. The interest rate risk is not regarded as a 
critical factor. Based on the present net debt situation, Jotun’s policy 
is not to hedge interest rate risk. If the net debt should increase and 
become permanently substantially higher than the present level, the 
policy will be reviewed.

liquidity risk
Cash flow from Jotuns operations has seasonal cycles. Through the 
winter and spring there is a substantial build up of working capital as 
a preparation for the summer sales season. This is an expected cyclical 
movement and is taken in to account when planning the financing. 
Other drivers for the liquidity development are the investments in new 

factory. Investments within the Jotun Group are financed mostly from 
Jotun A/S and the cash flows are predictable as the financing for each 
project is planned well in beforehand. Working capital movements 
are a mix of companies in a lot of different countries and levels out 
over time.

credit risk
The management of credit risk related to accounts receivable and 
other operating receivables is handled as part of the business risk and 
is continuously monitored. There is a slight concentration of credit risk 
in respect of single counterparts, but the risk is moderate. The losses on 
accounts receivables have been insignificant through Jotun’s history. 

Jotun A/S has International Swap Dealers Association (ISDA) agree-
ments with its counterparts for derivative transactions, and transac-
tions are made only with Jotun’s core relationship banks with satis-
factory ratings. 

price risk on input factors
Jotun A/S is exposed to a significant price risk in respect of a number 
of raw materials. Raw material purchases accounts for almost 60 
per cent of total sales revenue. The volatile raw material prices the 
last years have had a significant impact. Large short term increases 
in the raw material prices can not be compensated immediately in 
the product prices, and in the period until product prices can be 
increased, the profit will suffer.

Most of the raw material does not have a financial derivative price 
market, and therefore most of the raw material prices are not acces-
sible for hedging.

Only two raw material prices are hedged, namely Copper and Zinc 
price. There exists a liquid market for price derivatives, with London 
Metal Exchange as the leading market place for pricing. The policy is 
to hedge a certain percentage of expected consumption.

Hedging eFFectS 2012     

Hedging net investments
Net investments is defined as invested share capital in partially or 
wholly owned companies and long term internal loans from Jotun 
A/S. Jotun had a policy to hedge part of this exposure until the start 
of 2012.

2012
(NOK thousand)

Hedged 
volume

Unrealised 
gain/loss (-)

Realised 
effects 2012

net investment hedging

USD fwd/options - - -433

Other currencies fwd - - -171

total - - -604
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Hedging of operational and financial cash flows
Jotun A/S has financial and operational foreign exchange income and costs which are hedged as a net position according to the policy of Jotun A/S. 
The table below shows the status per 31. December:

Hedging of short term loans to subsidiaries
Until early 2012 hedging of short term internal loans and repayment of long term-loans were hedged seperately. Now this exposure is hedged as part 
of the financial cash flows.

Realised and unrealised loss/gain of the hedges is brought to Jotun A/S’ 
financial result. Realised and unrealised currency loss/gain on short term 
loans is equally brought to the financial result.

Hedges on raw material prices
Jotun has made financial price hedges for copper and zink prices 
based on estimated demand relating to signed contracts for the sale of 
paint products. The table below shows hedging in Jotun A/S with an 
unrealised gain of NOK 0.7 million. The realised effect in 2012 shows a 
loss of NOK 9.6 mill.

market value     
Market value information is gathered from:  
•	Hedging	of	raw	materials	in	Jotun	A/S:	Information	from	London	

Metal Exchange, official fixing 3M.
•	The	valuation	are	based	on	inputs	that	are	derived	from	

observable prices and are hence categorized as a “Level 2” input 
in the fair value hierarchy.

accoUnting oF Hedging inStRUmentS 

Hedging operational and financial cash flows
Jotun A/S do not apply hedge accounting for cash flow hedging. 
The realised and unrealised effects is booked as part of net finance.

Hedging against price risk on raw materials
Jotun A/S do not apply hedge accounting for raw material hedging. 
The realised effect is booked as part of the Operational result. The 
unrealised effect is recognised in financial items.

NOTE 20
LEASES

(NOK thousand) 2012 2011

operating lease expenses

Vehicles 17 700 11 220

cost current year 17 700 11 220

overview of future minimum lease payments related to operating leases

Cost next year 17 700 11 220

Cost next 2-5 years 35 400 22 440

Future minimum lease payments 53 100 33 660

Leasing commitment shows current and non-current commitments 
arising from leasing contracts for vehicles. All leasing contracts included 
in this note are regarded as operating leases and lease amounts are 
presented as operating expenses in the income statement.

2011
(NOK thousand)

Hedged 
volume

Unrealised 
gain/loss (-)

Realised 
effects 2011

net investment hedging

USD fwd/options 199 389 -11 312 18 159

Other currencies fwd 21 958 -807 500

total 221 348 -12 119 18 658

2012
(NOK thousand)

Hedged 
volume

Unrealised 
gain/loss (-)

Realised 
effects 2012

metals

Hedging of copper 53 023 69 -5 698

Hedging of zinc 31 099 676 -3 880

total 84 122 744 -9 578

2011
(NOK thousand)

Hedged 
volume

Unrealised 
gain/loss (-)

Realised 
effects 2011

metals

Hedging of copper 74 378 -8 367 8 600

Hedging of zinc 38 486 -5 366 -336

total 112 864 -13 733 8 264

2012
(NOK thousand)

Hedged 
volume

Unrealised 
gain/loss (-)

Realised 
effects 2012

Hedging of inflows 200 851 2 849 2 039

Hedging of outflows 287 122 -884 -18 612

total 487 973 1 965 -16 573

2012
(NOK thousand)

Hedged 
volume

Unrealised 
gain/loss (-)

Realised 
effects 2012

Loan hedging - - -717

2011
(NOK thousand)

Hedged 
volume

Unrealised 
gain/loss (-)

Realised 
effects 2011

Loan hedging 21 929 -548  5 278 

2011
(NOK thousand)

Hedged 
volume

Unrealised 
gain/loss (-)

Realised 
effects 2011

Hedging of operational income 54 499 -1 485 13 827

Hedging of operational costs 397 480 -1 485 -15 930

total 451 980 -2 970 -2 102

Cont. NOTE 19
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Cont. NOTE 19
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
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76   oRganiSation

president & CEO 
Morten Fon

Group functions
CFO

Vidar Nysæther

decorative paints
Bård K. Tonning

middle East, india & africa
Peder Bohlin

North East asia
Erik R. Aaberg

South East asia & pacific
Martin Chew

west Europe
Kjell Gundersen

Scandinavia
Stein Petter Lunde

East Europe & Central asia
Sükru Ergün

americas
Idar Salvesen

performance Coatings
Esben Hersve

powder
Ram Ramnath

marine
Geir Bøe

protective
Bjørn Wallentin

In 2012, The Jotun Group announced plans to reorganise dividing 
the company’s activities into four segments and seven regions: 
The new structure went into effect January 1 2013.

board of directors: 
Odd Gleditsch d.y. (Chairman)
Einar Abrahamsen 
Birger Amundsen 
Richard Arnesen 
Nicolai A. Eger 
Stein Erik Hagen 
Paul Jordahl 
Ingrid Luberth 

Corporate assembly: 
Olav Christensen (Chairman) 
Terje Andersen 
Richard Arnesen jr. 
Terje V. Arnesen 
Kornelia Eger 
Anne Cecilie Gleditsch 
Bjørn Ole Gleditsch 
Thore Kristiansen 
Kjell Sundsli
Karl Otto Tveter - substitute
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